REMEMBERING THOSE WE HAVE LOST; COLLEGE STUDENTS' USE OF SOCIAL MEDIA AND THE CONTINUING BONDS OF GRIEF.

Suzanne R. Black, MSSA, LSW

A Dissertation

In

Social Work

Presented to the Faculties of the University of Pennsylvania

in

Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the

Degree of Doctor of Social Work

2020

Dr. Kate Ledwith, LCSW, DSW

Dissertation Chair

Sara S. Bachman, Ph.D. Dean, School of Social Policy and Practice

<u>Dissertation Committee</u>
Dr. Carla Sofka, Ph.D.
Professor of Social Work, Siena College

Copyright 2020 by

Suzanne Black

All rights reserved

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to all of the college students I have served as an educator. It has been my honor to be a part of your collegiate experience and for some of you to hear your grief narrative. Thank you for allowing me to share my love for the grief and loss process with you. To the participants who completed the survey and provided great insight into your unique grief journeys, I am forever grateful. My hope is that your responses will add to the knowledge base of what we are learning about the impact that social media has on the grieving process and how we can further assist you with remembering the loved ones that you have lost.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my dissertation chair, Dr. Kate Ledwith, DSW, for continual patience, guidance and wisdom during this process. Her valuable insight and emotional support during this the dissertation development and progression provided me with the stamina to get through the most challenging writing project of my career. Her ability to provide critical insight when I had nothing left was invaluable. She will forever be a part of my social work journey.

I would like to thank my committee member Dr. Carla Sofka, Ph.D., who quickly responded yes to my asking to serve on my committee. Her knowledge of thanatology is beyond comparison. I am forever grateful for her assistance with the survey and allowing me to ask questions about the ever-changing world of grief and loss online. The expertise and contributions that she has provided to the world of social work, grief and loss and social media are incredibly significant. Thank you for choosing me to pay it forward, I will do the same someday.

I would like to thank my many colleagues who have provided endless support. Dr. Mark Lynch the epitome of a teacher, who taught me early in my social work education and continues to teach me today as a colleague and mentor. Dr. Lening Zhang, for his unconditional positive regard for my continual questions about SPSS and statistically analysis. His patience could not be any greater for me.

Melissa Garrity her ability to remind me of what is truly important in my life. I thank Theresa Wilson, for answering my questions during the online survey development and implementation, you are a true colleague and most importantly a friend.

My dearest friends who I met through SP2 and championed me on this journey through the DSW, Michelle Pliske, LCSW, DSW and Catherine Revak, LSW. We will always have Greece. Thanks to Vickey and Nicole for supporting me during the first drafts of this dissertation.

I thank my family for without them I would not be who I am. My spouse, Scott, you are my rock and the love of my life. Your unconditional support and belief in my ability to complete this degree has been my lifeline. My children, Averey and Lukas, I love you to the moon and back and beyond. I am blessed to be called your mama. My parents, Dean and Lucille, you were the first to show me how to love others who were grieving. My brothers, Doug and Brad, you set the bar high for your sister. I am thankful everyday of how you continue to protect and watch out for me, even though you don't need to.

Finally, God thank you for all the gifts and talents you have bestowed on me, I am not worthy to be your vessel.

ABSTRACT

REMEMBERING THOSE WE HAVE LOST; COLLEGE STUDENTS' USE OF SOCIAL MEDIA AND THE CONTINUING BONDS OF GRIEF

Suzanne Black, MSSA, LSW

Dr. Kate Ledwith, DSW

This dissertation is an exploratory study of grieving college students and their usage of social media and if this usage creates a continuing bond. In this mixed method study, the researcher explored grieving undergraduate and graduate students ages 18-24 who had experienced a death within the last 24 months, their use of social media and their understanding and creation of continuing bonds. Students received an email and self-selected to answer a survey and two instruments describing how grief and continuing bonds are experienced and how social media influences their ability to cope with loss. The data did not support that college students use social media to create or maintain a continuing bond, however exploratory data indicates that students do find a continuing bond important. In this sample, descriptive analysis indicated that college students do use social media to express and cope with their grieving experience and are often ambivalent about sharing their grief and loss experience over social media. Further research is needed to explore how students use the ever-evolving platforms on social media to express their emotions and thoughts during the grieving process.

Keywords: Social Media, college students, grief, continuing bond

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTiv
ABSTRACTvi
LIST OF TABLESix
CHAPTER 1: PROBLEM STATEMENT
Purpose of Study12
College Students and Social Media
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW16
Grief Conceptualized
College Students and Coping with Grief
Continuing Bonds Defined
Continuing Bonds Theory23
Continuing Bonds and Social Media
College Students, Grief and Continuing Bonds
CHAPTER 3: RESEARCH METHODS
Instruments31
Variables33
Quantitative Data Analysis
Qualitative Data Analysis
Research Questions and Hypothesis
Recruitment of Participants
Confidentiality Anonymity and Protection of Human Subjects

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS	40
Quantitative Results	40
Qualitative Findings	60
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION	66
Grief Theory	66
Experience Loss in College.	67
Use of Social Media while Grieving.	67
Continuing Bonds	70
Social Media and Continuing Bonds	72
Other Approaches to forming Continuing Bonds	74
Limitations	75
Implications for Future Research.	77
Clinical Implications for Educators and Clinical Social Work Practice	78
Conclusion	84
APPENDICES	85
Appendix A: Recruitment Email	86
Appendix B: Informed Consent	87
Appendix C: Survey	90
D.f	100

LIST OF TABLES

Table 4.1- Basic demographic characteristics of the sample. 41
Table 4.2- Current use of social media.43
Table 4.3- Using social media to cope. 43
Table 4.4- Use of social media around the time you found out about the death
Table 4.5 - Use of social media between the time you found out about the death until the memorial/funeral service was held. 45
Table 4.6 - Use of social media after the funeral up through six months after the death46
Table 4.7- Use of social media after 6 months to the present
Table 4.8- Experience of usage of social media to cope with death. 47
Table 4.9- Extent grieving college students maintain/create continuing bonds. 49
Table 4.10- Importance of maintaining continuing bonds to the deceased. 50
Table 4.11- Use of social media to create continuing bonds. 51
Table 4.12- Extent grieving college students' perceptions of their behaviors/actions 52
Table 4.13- Continuing Bonds Scale.53
Table 4.14- Continuing Bonds Scale with added social media items 54
Table 4.15- Core Bereavement Inventory.
Table 4.16- Bivariate correlations of the use of social media and continuing bonds
Table 4.17- Bivariate logistical regression of experience on social media platforms after a death
Table 4.18- Bivariate correlation between closeness to the deceased and use of social media to create or maintain continuing bonds. 58
Table 4.19- Appropriateness of social media used to express grief. 59
Table 4.20- Role of social media in how you found out about death60

CHAPTER 1: PROBLEM STATEMENT

Beyond the classroom, the college experience is full of unknowns and new events in this transitional phase from adolescence to adulthood. Arnett (2001) named this developmental period, ages 18-25, as "emerging adulthood" in which individuals begin to take responsibility for their actions, beliefs and values (p. 10). Universities anticipate issues that may emerge around students' adaptations to leaving home, meeting and being in new social groups, and adjusting to the rigor of the educational setting. These adaptations produce variations in psychosocial functioning, such as "psychological functioning, cognitive affective strategies and social well-being" (Conely, Kirsh, Dickson, & Bryant, 2014, p. 196). Unanticipated events can have an effect on the completion of classes, graduation, and relationships (Cox, Reason, Nix, & Gilman, 2016). Unexpected events that happen to loved ones may include death, accidents and health issues, which can cause secondary losses such as financial hardship, physical disturbances, and psychological difficulties (Cox et al. 2016; Niemeyer, Laurie, Mehta, Haridson, and Currier, 2008).

A significant portion of college students are grieving or mourning a loss. Studies by Balk, Walker and Baker (2010), Balk (1997), found that 22%-30% of college students are in the first 12 months of bereavement. However, a study by Cox, Dean and Kowalkski (2015) found nearly "60% of the college seniors interviewed had lost a family member or since the end of their first year of college" (p. 283). If the bereaved individual does not seek assistance with this experience, it could become debilitating. Grieving college students try to cognitively understand how to manage the manifestation of the emotions that erupt during this experience; however, managing this response during this stage of life can be rather difficult and lonely (Niemeyer et. al, 2008). In their study of bereaved college students, Cupit, Servaty-Seib, Parikh, Walker, &

Martin (2016) found that colleges need greater sensitivity to students who are experiencing grief and/or loss.

College students have found different methods to navigate the experience of loss and grief using social media. Turner (2015) describes individuals who are "born in the mid 1990's through late 2010 as Generation Z, I-gen, net gen and digital natives"(p. 104). According to a Pew Research Center study (2010), "72% of online 18-29-year-olds use social networking websites nearly identical to the rates of teens" (Lenhart, Purcell, Smith & Zickuhr, p. 3). Lenhart et. al (2010) measured young adults' usage of Twitter higher than any other cohort. Since this generation utilizes social media to communicate and find support, it is a natural outlet for them to share their feelings about a grief or loss experience.

In grieving, the term "thanatechnology" was coined to describe the use of technology and the internet as a tool for educating about death, counseling and research related to thanatology (Sofka, 1997). Social networking sites (SNS) have allowed those who are mourning to have various outlets during their grief and mourning process which include support, memorialization, and engagement with a community. Additionally, SNS could provide a mechanism to maintain an attachment or bond with those who have died. A study completed by Pennington (2013) found that college students "did not defriend a Facebook friend just because they died" (p. 624). The mourner was still able to visit the Facebook site to have a reminder of the deceased and seek support. In another study about bereaved college students and memorializing via social networks, Hieftje (2012) discovered that "web pages provided a way to continue their relationship with the deceased" (p. 40). Rossetto, Lannutti, and Strauman (2015) found that Facebook was a space for mourners to connect with others who are grieving. These interactions allowed for the mourner to grieve and continue the bonds to the deceased.

Purpose of Study

According to Balk (2011), emerging adults need time to heal from the loss and require some support strategies other than counseling which could include "journal writing, talking with friends and bereaved peers about the loss" (p. 148). These grief expressions could be beneficial during the mourning process and are an example of how an individual creates their own narratives about the bereaved. These stories often create a continuing bond to the person who has died.

Social networking sites have become a necessity among college students and could serve as a catalyst toward creating a continuing bond with the deceased by allowing the mourner to express their emotions on social media. Could this bond that is created through social media impact the grieving process of college students? Further research is necessary to understand this phenomenon of continuing bond(s), grieving and the online world for college students. This research study explored how college students utilize social media to express their grief and if this action provides a continuing bond to the deceased. *To what extent do grieving college students use social media to cope with death in their lives? Is social media used to have a continuing bond?*

College Students and Social Media

College is a time of growing, learning, and gaining independence. Those who attend college are often seeking answers to "Who am I?", "What do I want to become?", "What is independence like?" The traditional college student is leaving adolescence and becoming an adult and/or an emerging adult. The goal of this developmental period is to seek and develop an identity that will continue throughout their professional life and adulthood. Following Erikson's (1980) model of psychosocial development, college students are experiencing the stage of identity vs. role confusion. Some of the goals of this stage of development are to become independent both from parental control and to develop one's sense of identity both personally and socially. If students are indifferent to developing their own sense of identity, then they will often have role confusion (Erikson, 1980).

Identity formation in college is more than just finding one's self, it also includes forming lifelong relationships. As students enter and proceed through the college experience, many spend quality time developing new and lasting relationships with a chosen few.

Developmentally, students are becoming more skilled in their "cognition, emotions, and interpersonally" (Balk & Varga, 2018, p. 304). Time and energy are often placed into these few relationships to develop deeper connections.

Undergraduate institutions strive to assist students in the process of growing into thriving productive adults. This occurs through teaching students how to critically evaluate and disseminate research to gain insight. It is imperative that universities understand their students and what makes each cohort different from the others. The current generation comes to the collegiate world with the idea that multitasking is necessary and most of their relationships are held together by the internet and social media sites.

The current cohort of college students who have entered and continue to attend higher educational institutions consist of those who were born between 1995-2001. As this cohort entered kindergarten, this group had a front seat to history beginning with the terrorist attacks on the United States on September 11, 2001; they continue to see ramifications of this attack (Seemiller & Grace, 2016). They witnessed the election of the first African American President. They have observed immigration reform and the current policy changes. They have experienced or heard of more school shootings than any other cohort in history, with the first most memorable being the Columbine shooting and later the devastation at Sandy Hook, among others. They have had access to one device that plays movies, music and can communicate either via texting or voice since prior to preschool. Generation Z is significantly different from any other generation that has entered the college realm.

In their book, *Generation Z goes to College*, Seemiler and Grace (2016) describe this generation's personality traits as "loyal, compassionate, thoughtful, open minded, responsible, and determined" (p. 8). This generation looks to their parents for guidance when making decisions on important matters (Seemiler & Grace, 2016). Students seeking parental guidance is opposite to what Erikson hypothesized in his writing about the life cycle. According to Erikson (1980), the developmental stage of the college student includes aims to gain independence with decision making and development of oneself.

This generation has changed the landscape of popular internet platforms. In a survey completed by the Pew Research Center on the topic of internet and technology, Anderson and Jiang (2018) found that teens age 13-17 stated that Facebook is no longer the preferred platform for communication and information. The social media sites that are most used by this age group

are YouTube, Instagram and Snapchat. However, YouTube and Instagram were visited the most by the teens surveyed.

In her book *The Happiness Effect: How Social Media is Driving a Generation to Appear Perfect at any Cost*, Fretas (2017) interviewed college students about their use of social media and its effects. She found that students appreciate the ability to self-express yet are weary due to the continued expectation of utilizing the space for self-disclosure. The culture created by Generation Z is that many life experiences should be out in the open for the digital world to appreciate and either "like or not like." Students in this cohort expose themselves on a daily basis to those with whom they are "friends" on social media. The term "friends" is often expansive and may include individuals that they have never met. This extensive network allows college students to have different definitions of friends and support systems. Is it likely that social media is creates a space for college students to express their grief and loss feelings, or is this a place that students prefer not to expose something so vulnerable? According to Balk and Varga (2018), students are cautious about grieving online and use social media while grieving for limited purposes.

CHAPTER 2: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

Grief Conceptualized

Grief and Loss Theory

Sigmund Freud was one of the first to write about grief and loss in his paper entitled 'Mourning and Melancholia' (Freud, 1914). He noted that "the experience or reaction of loss contains the profoundly painful dejecting, cessation of interest in the outside world, and loss of the capability to love" (p. 244). To understand and overcome the loss, according to Freud (1914), "the individual must take and reinvest the loss into another person or object (p. 244). He postulated that if an individual does not have complete relinquishment of the person or object, then the grief will become pathological.

Bowlby advanced Freud's research on grief and mourning. He suggested that even in healthy adults, "mourning can and does last longer than six months with natural responses of anger to the individual lost, self, and disbelief" (Bowlby, 1982, p. 672). This mourning is activated when the attachment figure is unavailable (Bretherton, 1992). Bowlby along with his colleague, Colin Murray Parkes, identified four phases of grief during adult life: numbness, yearning and protest, disorganization and despair, and reorganization (Bowlby & Parkes, 1970). With this work, Bowlby led the way for future research about grief and mourning. He understood that there was a relationship between the individual who was mourning and the experience of the loss. He postulated that as humans, we become attached to one another and an emotional bond occurs. When a death event happens, the loss may feel incomprehensible and the person is irreplaceable (Balk, 2011). The response to the loss may depend upon the type of attachment they had to the person who died.

In her writings in "On Death and Dying," Dr. Elisabeth Kubler Ross, a physician working with terminally ill patients, developed the stage progression that is widely understood in western culture. She identified that individuals who are dying go through a progression/stage processing of their own grief: Denial, Anger, Bargaining, Depression/Despair, Acceptance. The goal of these stages is to move from one to the next until acceptance is attained. This stage-like progression has also been used in the mourning process; however, research has not validated this progression.

Walsh and McGoldrick (2013) identified four major developmental tasks that offer guidance to the mourner and the family. The tasks focus on the change in the family system and how it adapts to the death experience, and over time how loss can strengthen the family. The tasks include the following: "shared acknowledgement of the death and loss, shared experience of the loss, reorganization of the family system, and reinvestment in other relationships and life pursuits" (p. 21).

Grief theorists have identified the process of mourning through phases, stages, or tasks. The task-oriented process gives the mourner the ability to choose their own path of adaption toward their own reconciliation mourning process, while the phase model gives the expectation that one stage will eventually come after the next (Worden, 2009). This research focuses on the task-oriented model.

Worden (2018) identified four tasks of mourning. The first task is to accept the reality of the loss. This processing is often difficult for mourners to achieve. Death even when expected is a harsh reality. The mourner's world is never the same again, as the death has left its mark on the individual and their daily living. Denial is often a coping mechanism that is utilized to understand this new reality. This type of coping is utilized to assist with the understanding of the

loss or to minimize the reality of the occurrence. Coming to terms with the loss takes time and in the current landscape of our culture, time to mourn or experience natural emotions often has limits. Those who have disbelief about the death often have a difficult time completing this first task.

The second task of mourning is to process the pain of grief (Worden, 2018). This could also be viewed as acute grief, meaning that this period of time for mourner is "often intense, highly emotional, dominating our minds and disrupting our lives" (Shear & Bloom, 2017, p. 7). Innately, individuals have different physical and emotional pain tolerance; however, can limits be placed on the processing of the pain of grief? There are not two human beings alike in this world, which means that how each one cognitively and physically processes the experience of loss is different. Some will minimize their feelings, and then project onto other people or areas of their lives. This defense mechanism is used to cope with the underlying feelings that the mourner may not even understand. Eventually this delayed mourning processing will come to fruition in the mourner and the grief work will need to be done. This task of processing takes work and often is tiresome for the bereaved.

The third task suggested by Worden (2018) is to adjust to a world without the deceased which includes three areas that require adjustment: external adjustments, internal adjustments and spiritual adjustments. External adjustments take place at the pace of those who are mourning and often is dependent upon the attachment to the deceased. Some adjustments or skills that the mourner may need to facilitate could be in the areas of financial, planning for the future, discipline of children, etc. Daily living can be difficult, however navigating a new life story without the deceased is part of the healing process.

Internal adjustments include finding oneself without the deceased. This could include self-worth, self-esteem, and self-efficacy. Worden suggests that completion of the third task begins when the mourners can redefine the loss. Gillies and Neimeyer (2006) expanded this concept by suggesting that those who can find meaning or reconciliation after the death can further process the loss and view the world without the deceased with a new or different view.

Spiritual adjustments are another aspect of the third task. Finding comfort in spiritual beliefs is often a coping mechanism for the loss. The beliefs are that an individual's values can be strengthened or in some cases questioned by this grieving experience. According to Worden (2018), if an individual fails to adapt to the loss it could hold great consequences for both mental and physical health which could be evidenced by withdrawing from interactions with others or feeling a sense of helplessness.

The final task in Worden's model (2018) is to find a way to remember the deceased while embarking on the rest of one's journey through life. This task is active, where the mourner is remembering and integrating the deceased into their life. Worden has updated this task of the model from the previous edition in 2009. He suggests that this new task is a way for the bereaved to remember the deceased while moving forward with life. This emotional processing allows for the bereaved to make their own place for the deceased in their lives. The emotional or continuing bond that is created allows the mourner to process their grief at their own pace, with the ultimate goal of continuing on with life without the deceased. Not progressing through this task is not living or getting stuck in the grieving process. Worden suggests that these tasks are not linear, they can be worked through separately or simultaneously. This type of processing can allow the mourner to grieve and express their loss at their own pace.

Social media has been utilized to express feelings of grief and loss. In a study by Willis and Ferrucci (2017) they reviewed 30 deceased Facebook users' pages to understand what individuals wrote on those pages. While evaluating the participants' comments, the authors found that many individuals wrote on the pages to process their grief and loss. This was often done by writing about memories or memorialization. This action correlates with Worden's task of processing the grief. Individuals may write Facebook posts to have emotional relinquishment and process their grief with others who may have known the deceased.

College Students and Coping with Grief

In their study about college students and grief, Balk, Walker and Baker (2010) found that 22-30% of college students, were in the first 12 months of bereavement. This study produced almost the same results as Balk (1997). These studies imply that a significant portion of college students are grieving or mourning a loss. Balk et al. (2010) discovered that around 50% of those who died were friends to the participants, followed by grandparents and other family members.

The emotional responses to grief are numerous. Worden (2009) defines normal grief as having some of the following feelings "sadness, anger, guilt/self-reproach, fatigue, and loneliness" (p. 19). He further describes some of the physical concerns as "hollowness in the stomach, tightness in the chest, over sensitivity" (p. 23, 24). Grief can manifest not only into health issues, but prolonged psychological symptoms. (Niemeyer, Laurie, Mehta, Haridson, and Currier, 2008). The number of college students dealing with bereavement issues is significant enough to warrant an understanding of how they respond, cope and communicate about loss.

LaGrand (1985) identified college students as the "forgotten grievers" (p. 15). In this pioneering study, he collected data from over a course of 6 years from 3,000 college students to determine the types of losses students experience in college and what coping mechanisms they

employed while grieving. He identified that college students experienced a multitude of reactions, including but not limited to emotional responses such as "depression, shock, numbness" (p. 20) and the physical symptoms of "crying, headaches, and insomnia" (p. 24). Wagner and Rhee (2013) suggest that college students would like more information about grief and loss and how to support themselves and others while grieving. College students may not know that services are offered through the university or be able to access them. Some students described that they did not have enough time to get to the counseling or thought the services would not be beneficial (Cox, et al., 2015).

College students can cope with loss in various ways. One way of coping is through the cognitive appraisal of the event. Often this processing is completed by either problem-focused coping or emotion focused coping. Problem focused coping relies on action toward the stressor, while emotion focused coping focuses on what feeling is elected in response to the event. Not coping with the grief could result in psychological, social, emotional and academic effects on their lives (Cox et al., 2015). Students coping with a death during their transition to college could also experience a lack of connectedness to the college community (Miller & Sevaty-Seib, 2016). College is a difficult time of transition and the experience of loss may compound this already stressful psychosocial developmental phase.

The typical college transition relies on support from family, friends, religion, and possibly alcohol (Zaleski, Levi-Thorns, & Schiaffino, 1998). Schlossberg (1981) identified a model for transition and coping. She devised the model based upon how an individual copes or adapts to a transition using the following characteristics: "the characteristics and the perception of the transition, the characteristics of the pre-transition and post transition environments and the characteristics of the individual experiencing the transition" (p.5). If an individual understands

these three areas, then they can move through the transition of adaptation. This theory also accounts for the anticipated, unexpected and nonevent transitions that occur in life. Anticipated transitions are what the normative life cycle might produce such as leaving home. Unanticipated events are those not part of the life cycle such as unanticipated death, crisis, and trauma (Goodman, Schlossberg, & Anderson, 2006).

Negotiating life after a grief experience for college students can be rather intense. Cupit et al., (2016) hypothesized that a students' grieving experience can be measured by where the student is developmentally, the relationship to the deceased, and the community culture of the campus. Their research indicated that students want more support from their academic institutions. Students could and do have more non-death life experiences in addition to their loss experiences. Changes in relationships could also be related to mental health difficulties related to the loss. When experiencing a death, there are times that the bereaved wished they could say one more thing to their loved one or create another memory. To fill this void, mourners will look to create a continuing bond experience with those that they have lost, and it can be fulfilled in various ways.

Continuing Bonds Defined

The experience of death creates an empty space for mourners. Depending on the type of relationship that existed with the deceased, it is possible that one develops a yearning for a continuing bond. This desire could be met through reminiscence, shared stories or even conversing with the deceased as if they were present. A continuing bond is the "presence of an ongoing inner relationship with the deceased person by a bereaved individual" (Stroebe & Schut, 2005, p. 477).

John Bowlby, MD., expanded upon the research of Sigmund Freud. Bowlby (1950) studied "44 juvenile thieves and compared them with a control group of other maladjusted children" (p. 572). He found that the juvenile thieves who had been separated from their mothers for more than 6 months during the first five years of life had delinquent behavior. From this study, he proposed that the delinquent behavior was due to a "serious break" in the parent child relationship (p. 572). These findings and subsequent research led Bowlby to believe that early life attachment has ramifications on behavior and socialization. Bowlby (1982), theorized with his colleague Robertson that children, when separated from a mother figure, exhibit "protest, despair, and detachment' (p. 672). Bowlby (1969), in his book Attachment and Loss Volume I, stated that a child's ability to establish early attachment provides a "sense of self-worth, the belief in helpfulness of others and a model to build future relationships will furthermore provide resiliency" (p. 378). Attachment behaviors are seen in early childhood and throughout life, especially when an unexpected event or loss occurs. Bowlby advanced his research to the application of mourning and loss. He suggested that even in healthy adults, "mourning can and does last longer than six months with natural responses of anger to the individual lost, self, and disbelief' (Bowlby, 1982, p. 672). This mourning is activated when the attachment figure is unavailable (Bretherton, 1992).

Continuing Bonds Theory

Klass, Silverman and Nickman (1996) theorized about the topic of continuing bonds, believing that a bond could assist with the healthy adjustment to the loss of a loved one. Klass (2006) furthered the discussion of continuing bonds by suggesting that a continuing bond can be normal behavior in grieving; however, individual grief stories may vary. The connection to the deceased may provide comfort and security in a time of despair and continued change. When a

death happens, individuals are often forced to believe that it is the end of the relationship with the deceased. A continued relationship is suggested as unhealthy, which could be true for mourners who decompensate and dissociate. Connections to the deceased are personal; there is not a prescription for the bereaved to follow, and oftentimes judgment is placed on the mourner and their own processing of the loss. The perception of the loss by the bereaved and how they construct their reality following the death impacts the continuing bond. The mourner may try to find the meaning of the continuing bond and why it exists.

During the experience of any loss, especially death, there is often a period of time where the mourner begins to question the meaning of what has occurred. While questioning the experience, the mourner may try to reconnect to the deceased. When grieving, the mourner tries to construct a new reality out of the deep despair and make meaning from their own personal narrative (Neimeyer, Klass, & Dennis, 2014). The significance of the loss experience can only be told by the individual who has encountered it. The bereaved may desire to tell their story and possibly retell it to a professional, family or friend in order to make sense of this new reality (Neimeyer, 2001). The meaning is individual and based upon how the bereaved see their world and what is important to them, such as spirituality and religion, cultural beliefs and social supports (Neimeyer, Prigerson, & Davies, 2002).

Gillies and Niemeyer (2006) propose that individuals engage in three different actions to respond to a loss: "sense making, benefit finding and identity change" (p. 36). "Sense making" implies that the loss must have a reason for it to have occurred and now individuals mourn what was lost. "Benefit finding" suggests that the individual find a "new meaning" or build on what happened after the loss (p. 37). Finally, the authors indicate that an "identity change" could occur from the experience of the loss. When any loss happens, it changes the bereaved forever,

and changes how they process or reconstruct their life. Some aspects of the response that could occur from this "identity change" could be more "resiliency, independence and confidence" (p. 37). If the bereaved's identity is reconstructed, then they will look at life differently since experiencing the loss.

In their research about children and how they reconstruct and connect to the death of a parent, Silverman and Nickman (2006) found that the process is emotional and cognitive. They found that children engaged in actions to create a bond or be linked to the deceased. One of these activities included trying to find the deceased in the afterlife. Another connection was that the children thought the deceased was looking out for them. Others continued the connection to the deceased by visiting memorial sites such as a cemetery to have a conversation. Their research indicated that the children in the study tried to cope with their grief experience through constructing meanings that represented and personalized the deceased in their lives

Field and Filanosky (2010) further the continuing bonds theory to state that the attachment to the deceased could be deemed as problematic or an unresolved processing of the loss. According to the authors, the mourner will re-experience the loss whenever they misidentify someone as the deceased based upon physical appearance or the similarity in the sound of their voice. Continuing bonds could be very prevalent in more violent traumatic deaths due to complicated grieving that happens after such an event. In their research, they studied the internal and external aspects of continuing bonds. The term internal aspect means that the continuing bond serves as a form of positive attachment. An example of an internal aspect is if the mourner, when making a decision, would think about or use the deceased as a model to decide the action to be taken. The external aspect is often related to unresolved grief and can exemplified in hallucinations or delusions. Hallucinations are external as defined by Field and

Filanosky (2010), "given they are in the here and now quasi-perceptual quality existing externally as though the deceased were still alive" (p. 4). Those experiencing external features had a more difficult experience understanding the loss, while those who had internal meaning had more progressive growth in their grief process.

Ho and Chan (2018) furthered this research by trying to understand if there was a relationship between continuing bond and grief adjustment. They found that the connection or bond a mourner has to the deceased produced a variety of behaviors and stems from the relationship to the deceased and the type of bond perceived by the mourner. Each bond is understood to be an individual experience. For instance, Facebook will often show the account owner an anniversary or event that has occurred in the past. If the bereaved is reminded of the trauma that occurred, such as a suicide or accident, those reminders could trigger more complicated responses.

Continuing Bonds and Social media

Williams and Merten (2009) completed research concerning adolescents and their responses to loss on social media. When the adolescents made comments on a social networking profile they were "using language that indicates they were talking directly to the deceased" (p. 85). This process of communicating directly to the deceased allowed the mourners to have a continuing bond, but also acted as a coping mechanism that was always available. This research furthers the idea that students seek a connection or continuing bond with individuals who they have lost. Those who posted on the online platform often updated the deceased on their current life happenings or discussed memories they shared together.

A study by Holland, Currier and Neimeyer (2006) indicated that meaning making allowed for the grieving individual to cope better with the loss. This process of meaning making

does occur on social media sites. Communication is important in the grieving process and some college students have found that writing on web pages allowed them to grieve without backlash (Hieftje, 2012). James (2014) researched adolescents and the use of social media for support after a grief and loss experience. She found that those who were able to connect to others who were grieving were able to "normalize" their own grief experience. These studies support the idea that students seek a continuing bond during their grieving experiences via social networking sites or other online platforms. Moore, Magee, Gamreklidze and Kowaleski (2019) developed a model of Social Media Mourners (SMM) to assist with the understanding of how mourners use social media to describe their grief experience. In their study they found that those who are grieving have specific reasons to use social media as an outlet.

Many individuals who are grieving go to grave sites to experience a connectedness to the deceased. Kasket (2012) completed research on continuing bonds and Facebook and found that many participants appreciated the availability and accessibility of Facebook rather than visiting a grave site or memorial. This allows for easy access for all individuals with Facebook access to a remembrance site rather than just the grave which is only available to individuals who can physically visit and desire to do so.

Stein et. al. (2018) researched the continuing bonds and post traumatic growth of young adults when they experienced the loss of a friend. The authors found that all 20 of the participants felt they had a continuing bond with the deceased. This continuing bond was through "personal communication, personal change and homage activities" (p. 725). The research does not indicate whether this personal communication was via social media but does mention that individuals would just speak out loud to the deceased.

A continuing bond can occur on a social media site for the bereaved. Mourners visit social networking sites for support and a space to possibly reminisce about the deceased. This space could provide a support system for the mourner with individuals. Sofka (2017) describes that teens go to social media sites to post possible apologies that they were not able to express to the deceased prior to the death. This could be done either privately or publicly on social networking sites. This type of support gives the mourner the ability to create a continuing bond that may not have ever occurred if social media was not available to the mourner. In the research James (2014) completed about adolescents' use of social media, some of the students interviewed posted on social media privately to the deceased as if they were alive. This is just one example of a continuing bond on social media.

Sofka (2018) created a pyramid to show how adolescents utilize social media while grieving. In this model, she describes that grieving adolescents begin by sharing the news of the loss and then create an online community of support. From this point, mourners may create online memorializations which could potentially create or maintain a continuing bond. Finally, teenagers may report that they are preserving their digital memories and could become a survivor advocate. Understanding this digital processing and how it impacts the continuing bonds experience of college students is an area of grief and loss studies that needs to be further explored.

College Students, Grief, and Continuing Bonds

College students making the transition to adulthood have often created bonds between parental figures and other friend networks which could include their social networking "friends." According to Arnett (2015), there are five features of an emerging adult: "identity exploration, instability, self-focused, a feeling of in between, and age of possibilities" (p. 8). Due to these

features, college students begin to form lasting relationships with select groups of peers and often do not seek their parents' approval for these relationships (Balk & Varga, 2018).

College provides certain opportunities for students to achieve a new sense of independence and develop new norms. According to a study by Bucx and Van Wel (2008), parental bond influences how an individual reacts to transitions. The parent child bond is important to navigate life changes and transitions (Bucx & Van Wel, 2008). Additionally, the parental bond could influence how a college student experiences the mourning process and if they create a bond with the deceased.

College students have found methods to navigate the experience of loss and grief through social media. They are constantly connected to their phones, computers, tablets or anything that has internet access prior to entering college. Most students have laptops or smartphones that have unlimited connectivity to a large knowledge base (Seemiller & Grace, 2016). The tools developed by social networking sites (SNS) have allowed users to have interaction in various ways. In her research about a crash that occurred in her local community, Sofka (2017) found that 60% of those who participated stated they were notified about the tragedy via social networking sites within an hour of the crash. Students and adults often find out about a death via a social media outlet and then respond with condolences as a form of support to their family and friends. In other instances, the mourners themselves express their grief through a post. This type of online communication could allow individuals to share their feelings faster with more people (Falconer, Sachsenweger, Gibson & Norman, 2011).

Social networking sites are a "necessity" among the emerging adult population.

Emerging adults use the sites to stay connected to friends, family, and support systems. Many students spend time responding to, reading and typing comments (Subrahmanyam, Reich,

Waechter & Espinoza, 2008). Some have used this platform to have a continued relationship with the deceased. Pennington (2013) found that a college student's "decision to maintain friendship ties to a Facebook page of someone who was deceased is a true embodiment of continuing bonds through the deceased online presence" (p. 630). The online self remains present even after an individual has died (Caroll & Landry, 2010).

There is little research on how college students create continuing bonds with the deceased through social media. In her research of college students and the role of social networking sites Hieftje (2012), found that students desired "connection, communication, commemoration and the continuation of the relationship" (p. 36). This affirms that the continuing bond that social media provides allows for mourners to have contact with the deceased as if they were here. Balk (1996) studied attachment and college students and how it affects their grief response. The results of his research, which evaluated bereaved college students, were based upon three different levels of attachment: little attachment, some attachment, and much attachment. He concluded that college students with continuing attachment to the deceased experienced "greater distress and sorrow" (p. 323).

Balk and Varga (2018) furthered the investigation of college students and grief to include social media or thanatechnology. Their research found that "26% of students who experienced a loss used social media as a means of grief support" (p. 308). The students used sites such as Facebook, Instagram and Twitter. Many in the study felt that social media was not a place to discuss their grief experiences, or if they did, it was for information related to notification of death or funeral services. Further research is necessary to assess how social media can create a space for college students to express their grief and loss experience including the development or maintenance of continuing bonds.

CHAPTER 3: METHODS

Introduction

This research study was completed to explore grieving college students' use of social media to cope with death and whether this coping mechanism can create or maintain a continuing bond. This pilot research study design was a mixed methods design by way of a survey. This study gathered information via a questionnaire designed by the author including demographic information and open-ended questions about grief and use of social media, an 11-question continuing bond scale by Field, Gal-Oz and Bonanno (2003), and the Core Bereavement Items, a 17-question scale measuring the core grief experiences (Burnett, Middleton, Raphael, and Martinek, 1997). This data was collected online via SurveyMonkey®. The design, implementation, and administration of the survey was approved by the University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, and St. Francis University, Loretto, PA, Institutional Review Boards.

According to Cupit (2012), utilizing both quantitative and qualitative approaches when researching thanatechnology permits both inductive and deductive reasoning. This allows the researcher to fully understand the depth and meaning of the loss and the impact social media had on the grief process. Thus, the mixed method design was chosen for this study.

Instruments

An open and closed ended pilot questionnaire was developed by the researcher to assess the usage of social media platforms by undergraduate and graduate college students prior to and during the bereavement process. The researcher had assistance and guidance to develop the questionnaire from Dr. Carla Sofka, an expert on social media and grief. Questions for this survey were modified from "518 social media and grief survey" created by Sofka (2013). Other

questions were developed using the Bereavement Activities Questionnaire (the BAQ) created by Castle and Phillips (2003) and then revised in a dissertation by Graves (2009). Since psychometric properties of the BAQ have not been evaluated, the researcher chose not to use the actual scale but to use it as a guide for the pilot questionnaire. The answers to the open-ended questions were coded for qualitative analysis.

To measure continuing bond, the Continuing Bonds Scale (CBS) (Field, Gal-Oz and Bonanno (2003) was utilized. The authors of the scale suggest that a total of 11 questions cover many different areas of inquiry for the participant to assess their continuing bonds. These areas primarily ask how individuals maintain ties or have continuing bonds to the deceased. The overall internal consistency was α = .87, according to Field, Gal-Oz and Bonanno, (2003). The 11-question CBS (Field, Gal-Oz and Bonanno, 2003) explores how the bereaved individual feels the deceased is part of their life. Niemeyer, et al., (2006) studied college students whose ages were 18-53 utilizing the 11- item CBS Scale. The authors completed a "principal component analysis and utilized a screen plot which included all 11 items and had an internal consistency of .90" (p. 724), similarly this study produced a Cronbach's Alpha of .944. An additional 13 questions were added to the Continuing Bonds Scale (CBS) by the researcher to measure how participants behaviors/actions online or on social media are related to continuing bonds. Participants were able to respond using point response categories from 1 = "not at all true" to 5 = "very true," and the Cronbach's alpha was .877.

The Core Bereavement Items (CBI) a grief inventory was developed by Burnett,

Middleton, Raphael and Martinek (1997) was used to assess the "core" grief experiences; the

CBI had a Cronbach's alpha of .91. The authors utilized the scale to address three different

aspects of bereavement: images and thoughts, acute separation, and grief (Burnett, et al., 1997).

In a sample of young adults who had experienced a death /loss of a loved one within the last two years, Holland, Nam & Neimeyer (2013) showed the scale to have Cronbach's Alpha of .95.

Because of the use of the scale on young adults, the CBI survey was chosen for this pilot study.

Participants responded using point response categories from 1 = "never" to 4 = "a lot of the time," and the Cronbach's alpha was .877.

For the purpose of this study, the pilot questionnaire, the CBS, and the CBI were converted to electronic format via SurveyMonkey® platform. SurveyMonkey® is an online tool that can be found at www.surveymonkey.com. This tool was chosen as it is readily available to the researcher via the Center for Teaching and Excellence at St. Francis University.

In addition to the CBI and the revised CBS, the researcher included in the pilot questionnaire demographic information which included gender, year of schooling, where the participant primarily takes classes and racial/ethnic identity. The complete survey can be found in Appendix C.

Variables

Four variables were examined in this study.

Independent Variables

Frequency of participation on social media

This variable was assessed by asking the participant if they used social media around the time they found out about the death, between the time they found out about the death and when the memorial or funeral service was held, after the funeral up through 6 months after the death, and between 6 months after the death to the present. These timeframes were adapted from a survey by Sofka (2013), "518 Social Media and Grief Survey." For each type of social media listed the

participant could choose between the response options of frequently, occasionally, and never (Appendix C, questions 21-24).

Close relationship

This variable was measured by asking the participant to rate the closeness of their relationship on a scale of 0-5. (Appendix C, Question 11)

Dependent Variables

Level of importance of having a continuing bond

This variable was measured using a question that assessed if the participant found it important to have a continuing bond to the deceased, "How important is it to have a continuing bond to the deceased?" (Appendix C, Question 33). This question could be answered with extremely important, very important, somewhat important, and not important at all.

Experiences using social media to cope with death

This variable was measured using the question: "What type of experience(s) did you have posting on social media to cope with the death? (Check all that apply) (Appendix C, question 29). The participant had the choices of positive, negative or mixed.

Importance of maintaining a Continuing Bond using social media

This variable was measured using the questions that the author added to the CBS scale (12-24 Appendix C, question 35). Participants responded using point response categories from 1 = "never" to 5 = "a lot of the time".

Continuing bonds

This variable was measured by the 11-question CBS (Field, Gal-Oz and Bonanno, 2003). Participants responded to the questions by using the scale that was provided from not true at all to very true (*Appendix C*, *question 35,1-11*). Participants responded using point response

categories from 1 = "never" to 5 = "a lot of the time. Open-ended questions provided supplemental information which will be analyzed as qualitative data.

Quantitative Data Analysis

The data from the pilot survey, Continuing Bond Scale (CBS) and Core Bereavement

Items were converted from SurveyMonkey® to SPSS version 26 so that the data could be
analyzed and statistically evaluated. The data accumulated from all measurements were
reviewed and analyzed. Reliability for the Continuing Bond Scale and Core Grief Inventory was
evaluated using Cronbach's alpha. Analysis for this pilot study began with obtaining the
descriptive statistics followed by an understanding certain frequencies, correlations and multiple
regression. The CBS was separated into two parts. The original CBS by Field et. al. (2003), and
then questions created by the author to understand the usage of social media and continuing bond
questions 12-24. To understand the use of social media a specific question was asked if students
used social media to cope with the death. Frequency of use of social media was assessed by four
questions that evaluated certain timeframes during the grieving period. The research questions
were assessed by analyzing the frequency of using social media to cope with the death, their
experience, with the ability to create a continuing bond and the use of social media to create a
continuing bond.

Qualitative Data Analysis

The participants were asked multiple open-ended questions to gain more insight into their grieving experience and use of social media and to further understand the quantitative data.

Participants were asked to provide more information about the closeness and relationship with the deceased and their level of awareness that the death was going to occur. To further understand their experience using social media to cope with the death, the participants were

asked to expand upon how they used social media privately or publicly, and whether their experience with social media was positive, negative or mixed. Participants were also asked to provide additional responses about the importance of creating a continuing bond. Using the qualitative data, the researcher evaluated the content of each qualitative question and then coded and categorized the participants' thoughts and feelings. The researcher created a chart to categorize the themes that emerged.

Research Questions and Hypothesis

This exploratory research examined the following questions: 1) To what extent do grieving college students currently use social media platforms. If they use social media platforms, what types of social media platforms do college students use? 2) To what extent do grieving college students cope with a death in their lives using social media platforms? If they use social media to cope with the death, a) What is the frequency of use of social media by college students around the time of death, b) between the death and the funeral, c) from the time of the funeral through 6 months after the death and d) 6 months after the death to the present? 3) If they use social media to cope with death, do they have a positive, negative or mixed experience? 4) To what extent do grieving college students create/maintain continuing bonds? 5) How important is it to the grieving college students to have a continuing bond to the deceased? 6) How do grieving college students use social media to create/maintain a continuing bond to the deceased? 7) To what extent do grieving college students' perceptions of their behaviors/actions on social media create a continuing bond?

Hypotheses

Grieving college students' frequency of participation on social media after experiencing a death will be positively correlated with the level of importance to having a continuing bond to the deceased.

Grieving college students who participated more frequently on social media after the death will be more likely to report positive experiences with using social media.

Grieving college students who had a close relationship to the deceased prior to the death will be more likely to report a higher level of importance of maintaining a continuing bond using social media.

Grieving college students who had a close relationship to the deceased will be more likely to report a higher level of importance of maintaining a continuing bond to the deceased.

Recruitment of Participants

A convenience sample was gathered via email to students at a small private university. A recruitment email was sent to all university students starting on November 25th and ending December 9th. The students self-selected to participate or not. However, they could not participate if they had not experienced a death within the last two years. Email delivery of the survey and questionnaire was chosen for multiple reasons: it allowed access to more participants, the free cost to the researcher, and presumed comfort with technology of the sample. The body of the email described the study and gave information about how to participate. The student read the informed consent and then clicked on a box that they have been

informed of the purpose of the study, assurance of the study, and how confidentiality of data would be maintained once collected. Participants could choose to discontinue their participation at any time by not submitting their answers or not completing the surveys. Once the student completed the survey and questionnaire, the student submitted the information and were directed to a "thank you page" for participating. The thank you page included a section that noted the college counseling center's phone numbers and a national crisis hotline for those not on the college campus. The researcher provided this information due to the thoughts and feelings that may occur when answering questions or talking about a death. The following are the numbers that were listed.

University Counseling Center: 814-472-3211 or 1-877-268-9463

Crisis Hotline Lifeline: 1-800-273-8255

An example of the recruitment email is located in Appendix A.

The target sample size for this mixed method design was 100 students. The data collection ended at a sample size of 83 participants. Of the 83 participants, 15 were eliminated from the data analysis due to missing data. After further review and analysis another eight participants did not complete the entire survey or inadvertently did not complete the continuing bond scale, which was to be completed whether or not a participant utilized social media for grief purposes. The continuing bond scale was placed at the end of the survey and was missed or skipped, therefore not completed by most of these eight participants. Because part of this study was trying to understand the relationship between social media and continuing bond, the eight participants were not included in the study. The total N for participants was 58 which was 70% of the initial sample size.

This research adhered to the ethical guidelines of research practice. The research project was reviewed by the Institutional Review Board prior to distribution to participants. The survey was anonymous and no identifying information was collected and all information received followed the ethical guidelines and protocols of research practice. Data is kept confidential according to institutional regulations.

Confidentiality Anonymity and Protection of Human Subjects

Those who voluntarily participated in this research study remained anonymous, as no identifying information was gathered. Responses to the surveys were only for data analysis. Some openended answers were quoted in the study; however, the researcher was not be able to identify the writer of the response. The data are stored in a secured drive to which that only the researcher has access.

This study had minimal risk to participants, although the topic of death can be difficult to discuss. In case students were triggered by the survey or their participation, community resources were placed at the end of the survey. This provided participants a resource to contact for support.

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS

Quantitative Results

Sample Descriptive Statistics

The sample was almost completely female 93.1% (N=54) compared to male who represented 6.9% (N=4). The study included 18-24-year-old graduate and undergraduate students. The mean age was 20.43 with a standard deviation of 1.58. The sample included 50 undergraduate (86.2% of the sample) and 8 graduate students (13.8% of the sample). Most of the participants (89.1%) took classes on campus while 8.6% of the participants took classes both online and on campus. Only 1.7% of the participants took classes completely online. The majority of the racial identity of those who participated were white (98.3% of the sample), while 1.7% were people of color. (Table 4.1)

 Table 4.1

 Basic demographic characteristics of the sample

Variable	Frequency	Percent	
Gender:			
Male	4	6.9	
Female	54	93.1	
Age:			
18	6	10.3	
19	14	24.1	
20	11	19.0	
21	10	17.2	
22	11	19.0	
23	5	8.6	
24	1	1.7	
Year:			
Freshman	9	15.5	
Sophomore	14	24.1	
Junior	10	17.2	
Senior	17	29.3	
Graduate	8	13.8	
Primarily take classes:	50	00.1	
Campus	52	89.1	
Online	1	1.7	
Both Campus/Online	5	8.6	
Race/Ethnicity:			
White	57	98.3	
Non-White	1	1.7	
N-58			

N=58

Participants were asked to identify if they had experienced a loss over the last two years.

Some had multiple experiences with grieving a deceased individual or pet. The study asked the

participants to choose one individual or pet to consider when answering the survey regarding their experience with grief and loss. A grandparent was identified most often with 31% (N=18), followed closely by a friend 29.3% (N=17). The next three individuals most commonly chosen were uncle, aunt and others, all at 8.6% (N=5). Participants also chose a pet 6.9% (N=4), parent was chosen at 3.4% (N=2), while cousin was 1.7% (N=1).

Participants were asked to describe their relationship to the deceased prior to death using a Likert scale of 1-5 (1 = not close at all to 5 = very close). Results indicated that 32.8% (N=19) were very close to the deceased prior to death, 29.3% (N=17) were close, 25.9% (N=15) were somewhat close, 10.3% (N=6) or not close at all were 1.7% (N=1).

Exploratory Research Questions

1. To what extent do grieving college students currently use social media platforms, and if they use social media platforms what types do, they use?

Participants were asked a series of questions to measure their frequency of usage of social media: never, occasionally, and frequently. Participants were given certain timeframes to answer their frequency of usage while coping with the death. Each social media question included a list of social media sites: Facebook, Instagram, Twitter, Tumblr, YouTube, blogging site and an option for other sites not listed. (Table 4.2)

Currently Snapchat had the highest frequency of use at 84.5% (N=49), followed by Instagram 75.9% (N=44), and then YouTube 34.5% (N=20). YouTube 53.4% (N=31) was occasionally accessed, followed by Facebook at 36.8% (N=21) and then Twitter 27.6% (N=12). One social media site that was never used was blogging sites 100% (N=58), followed by Tumblr 79.3% (N=45) and then other social media/internet sites 84.45% (N=38). (Table 4.2) Other social media sites listed by participants as used were TikTok, Pinterest, Group Me, and VSCO.

Table 4.2

Current use of social media

Variable	Free	quency/Percentage of use	
Type of social media	Frequently	Occasionally	<u>Never</u>
Facebook	26 (45.60%)	21 (36.80%)	10 (17.50%)
Instagram	44 (75.90%)	12 (20.70%)	2 (3.40%)
Twitter	20 (34.50%)	16 (27.60%)	22 (37.90%)
Snapchat	49 (84.50%)	6 (10.30%)	3 (5.20%)
Tumblr	2 (3.40%)	10 (17.20%)	45 (79.30%)
YouTube	20 (34.50%)	31 (53.40%)	7 (12.10%)
Blogging Site	0 (0.00%)	0 (0.00%)	58 (100.00%)
Other:	3 (6.70%)	4 (8.90%)	38 (84.40%)

2. Do college students use social media platforms to cope with death?

Participants were asked to identify whether they used social media to cope with the death they experienced.

Table 4.3

Using social media to cope

Frequency	Percent	
32	55.2	
26	44.8	
	32	32 55.2

N = 58

3. a) If they use social media platforms to cope with the death what is the frequency of use around the time of death? (this research question has four parts)

The social media sites that participants reported accessing most frequently around the time that they found out about the death were as follows (Table 4.4): Snapchat 62.5% (N=20), Facebook 53.1% (N=17), and Instagram 46.9% (N=15). Participants report they occasionally accessed the social media sites of Instagram 37.5% (N=12), YouTube 31.3% (N=10) and Snapchat and

Facebook 25% (N=8) around the time of death. Students reported never accessing the following sites: Blogging Site 100% (N=32), Tumblr 81.3 % (N=26) followed by Other sites 92.3% (N=24), around the time of death. Participants suggested that Group Me was another social media site that was also used but was not listed as a choice.

Table 4.4

Use of social media around the time you found out about the death

Variable	Freq	uency/Percentage of use	
Type of social media	Frequently	Occasionally	Never
Facebook	17 (53.10%)	8 (25.00%)	7 (21.90%)
Instagram	15 (46.90%)	12 (37.50%)	5 (15.60%)
Twitter	5 (15.60%)	7 (21.90%)	20 (62.50%)
Snapchat	20 (62.50%)	8 (25.00%)	4 (12.50%)
Tumblr	0 (0.00%)	6 (18.80%)	26 (81.30%)
YouTube	5 (15.60%)	10 (31.30%)	17 (53.10%)
Blogging Site	0 (0.00%)	0 (0.00%)	32 (100.00%)
Other:	0 (0.00%)	2 (7.70%)	24 (92.30%)

N = 32

b) between the death and the funeral

Participants reported accessing the following social media sites frequently between the time they found out about the death until the funeral or memorial service (Table 4.5). Rates included Facebook at 56.3% (N=18), Snapchat 50% (N=16), followed by Instagram 40.6% (N=13). Participants reported occasionally accessing Instagram 40.6% (N=13), Snapchat 31.3% (N=10) and YouTube 31.3% (N=10) from the death until the funeral or memorial service. Participants reported never accessing the following social media sites during this time frame: Blogging site 100% (N=32), Tumblr 93.8% (N=30), other sites 92.3% (N=24). Participants suggested that Group Me was another social media site that was also used but was not listed as a choice.

Table 4.5

Use of social media between the time you found out about the death until the memorial/funeral service was held

Variable	Freq	uency/Percentage of use	
Type of social media	Frequently	Occasionally	Never
Facebook	18 (56.30%)	7 (21.90%)	7 (21.90%)
Instagram	13 (40.60%)	13 (40.60%)	6 (18.80%)
Twitter	6 (18.80%)	8 (25.00%)	18 (56.30%)
Snapchat	16 (50.00%)	10 (31.30%)	6 (18.80%)
Tumblr	0 (0.00%)	2 (6.30%)	30 (93.80%)
YouTube	4 (12.50%)	10 (31.30%)	18 (56.30%)
Blogging Site	0 (0.00%)	0 (0.00%)	32 (100.00%)
Other:	0 (0.00%)	2 (7.70%)	24 (92.30%)

c) from the time of the funeral/memorial service through 6 months after the death

Participants reported that from the funeral/memorial service up through 6 months after the death, (Table 4.6), they accessed the following social media sites frequently: Snapchat 75% (N=24), Instagram 61.3% (N=19), Facebook 46.9% (N=15). Participants stated that occasionally after the funeral/memorial service through the 6 months after the death, they accessed Facebook 40.6% (N=13), YouTube 40.6% (N=13) and Instagram 35.5% (N=11). Participants reported never accessing the following sites from the time the funeral/ memorial service was held through 6 months after the death: blogging sites 100% (N=0), Tumblr 90.6% (N=29), and other sites 92% (N=23). Participants suggested that Group Me was another social media site that was also used but was not listed as a choice.

Table 4.6

Use of social media after the funeral up through six months after the death

Variable	Freq	uency/Percentage of use	
Type of social media	<u>Frequently</u>	Occasionally	Never
Facebook	15 (46.90%)	13 (40.60%)	4 (12.50%)
Instagram	19 (61.30%)	11 (35.50%)	1 (3.20%)
Twitter	10 (32.30 %)	6 (19.40%)	15 (48.40%)
Snapchat	24 (75.00%)	4 (12.50%)	4 (12.50%)
Tumblr	0 (0.00%)	3 (9.40%)	29 (90.60%)
You \Tube	7 (21.90%)	13 (40.60%)	12 (37.50%)
Blogging Site	0 (0.00%)	0 (0.00%)	31 (100.00%)
Other:	2 (8.00%)	0 (0.00%)	23 (92.00%)

d) from 6 months after the death to the present

Participants reported that from 6 months after the death until the present accessing the following social media sites frequently (Table 4.7): Snapchat 66.7% (N=20), Instagram 63.3% (N=19) and Facebook 56.7% (N=17). Participants reported accessing the following social media sites occasionally from 6 months after the death until the present: YouTube 43.3% (N=13), Facebook 30% (N=9) and Instagram 30% (N=9). Participants reported never accessing the following social media sites 6 months to the present: blogging sites 100% (N=0), Tumblr 89.7% (N=26), and other 88.9% (N=24). Other social media sites used by participants were Group Me and VSCO.

Table 4.7Use of social media after 6 months and to the present

Variable	Freq	uency/Percentage of use	
Type of social media	Frequently	Occasionally	Never
Facebook	17 (56.70%)	9 (30.00%)	4 (13.30%)
Instagram	19 (63.30%)	9 (30.00%)	2 (6.70%)
Twitter	10 (34.50%)	6 (20.70%)	13 (44.80%)
Snapchat	20 (66.70%)	6 (20.00%)	4 (13.30%)
Tumblr	1 (3.40%)	2 (6.90%)	26 (89.70%)
YouTube	7 (23.30%)	13 (43.30%)	10 (33.30%)
Blogging Site	0 (0.00%)	0 (0.00%)	30 (100.00%)
Other:	3 (11.10%)	0 (0.00%)	24 (88.90%)

4. If college students used social media to cope with the death, did they have a positive, negative or mixed experience?

Additionally, participants were asked if they had positive, negative and or mixed experiences while coping with their grief on social media (Table 4.8). Participants could choose more than one answer for this question. According to their responses 73.3% reported having positive experiences, while not one participant suggested that their experience was completely negative. However, 26.7% stated they had mixed experiences.

Table 4.8

Experience of usage of social media to cope with death

Variable	Frequency	Percentage
Experience		
Positive	22	(73.30%)
Negative	0	(0.00%)
Mixed	8	(26.70%)

N = 30

5. To what extent do grieving college students create/maintain continuing bonds?

This question was assessed using the continuing bond scale. Utilizing the scale below, participants were asked about whether or not they created or maintained a continuing bond (Table 4.9). Students 58.6% responded very true to the statements "I have fond memories that bring me joy," and 53.4% to the statement "I am aware of the positive influence the deceased had on who I am today."

 Table 4.9

 Extent grieving college students maintain/create continuing bonds

CBS item Frequency / Percentage Not true Rarely Moderately Usually Very true at all true true true I seek out things to remind deceased 4 6.9% 12 20.7% 20 34.5% 12 20.7% 6 10.3% I keep items that belonged to or were 3 5.2% 8 13.8% 9 15.5% 12 20.7% 22 37.9% closely associated with my deceased as a reminder of them I like to reminisce with others 1 1.7% 6 10.3% 15 25.9% 11 19% 21 36.2% about the deceased I have inner conversations with the 11 19% 15 25.9% 11 19% 7 12.1% 9 15.5% deceased where I turn to him or her for advice Even though they are no longer physically 17 29.3% 9 15.5% 20 34.5% 4 6.9% 4 6.9% present, the deceased continues to be a loving presence in my life 8 13.8% 11 19% 10 17.2% 6 10.3% I am aware of having taken on many 19 32.8% of the deceased habits, values or interests. I am aware of the positive influenced 2 3.4% 1.7% 8 13.8% 12 20.7% 31 53.4% the deceased had on who I am today. I attempt to carry on the deceased wishes 5 8.6% 6.9% 11 19.0% 16 27.6% 18 31% I have many fond memories that bring 0.0% 1 1.7% 7 12.1% 12 20.7% 34 58.6% joy to me. When making decisions, I 13 22.4% 15 25.9% 12 20.7% 6 10.3% 8 13.8% Imagine the deceased viewpoint and use this as a guide in deciding what to do. I experience the deceased as continuing 14 24.1% 14 24.1% 6 10.3% 10 17.2% 9 15.5% to live on through me

N = 54

6. To what extent is there an importance to the grieving college student to have continuing bond to the deceased?

After being prompted to read a definition of a continuing bond, all participants, whether they used social media or not, were asked if they thought that it was important to create a continuing bond to the deceased. Participants rated how important it was to them (extremely important, very important, somewhat important or not important at all) (Table 4.10).

Over 50% of the participants responded that it was extremely important (33.3%) or very important (40.7%). Additionally, 22.2% felt that it was somewhat important, while 3.7% stated that it was not important at all to have a continuing bond to the deceased. Four (6.9%) participants did not respond to this question.

 Table 4.10

 Importance of maintaining continuing bonds to the deceased

Variable:	Frequency/Percentage		
Importance of Continuing bond			
Extremely Important	18 (33.30%)		
Very Important	22 (40.70%)		
Somewhat Important	12 (22.20%)		
Not Important at all	2 (3.70%)		
1	,		

N = 54

7. To what extent do grieving college students use social media to create/maintain a continuing bond to the deceased?

After reading the definition of continuing bond that was provided, the participants were asked if social media was utilized to create or maintain a continuing bond to the deceased (Table 4.11).

Over half (70.4%) the participants responded that they did not create a continuing bond to the

deceased utilizing social media, while 29.6% responded that they did (N=54). Additionally, four participants (6.9%) did not respond to this question.

Table 4.11

Use of social media to create continuing bonds

Variable:	Frequency/ Percentage	
Social Media to create continuing bonds		
Yes	16 (29.60%)	
No	38 (70.40%)	
N=54		

8. To what extent do grieving college students' perceptions of their behaviors/actions on social media create/maintain a continuing bond.

Participants were asked 13 additional questions that were added to the continuing bond scale. The researcher chose nine questions that directly dealt with the use of social media and continuing bond to assess their perception of their behaviors and actions on social media to create a continuing bond (Table 4.12). Participants (85.2%) responded not true at all to the statements "I asked the deceased for advice through social media" and 79.6% to "I used social media to post private messages to the deceased as if I were talking to them."

Table 4.12

Extent grieving college students' perceptions of their behaviors /actions create continuing bonds

CBS item	Fre	quency / Perce	entage		
	Not true at all	Rarely true	Moderately true	Usually true	Very true
I utilized social media to share stories, pictures, writings about the deceased.	20 37%	16 29.6%	4 7.4%	10 18.5%	4 7.4%
I used social media to post messages that were public messages to the deceased (as if I were talking to them)	41 75.9%	6 11.1%	3 5.6%	4 7.4%	0 0.0%
I used social media to post private messages to the deceased (as if I were talking to them)	43 79.6%	5 9.3%	3 5.6%	2 3.7%	1 1.9%
Posting messages to the deceased via social media helped me to feel connected to the deceased.	38 70.4%	5 9.3%	4 7.4%	5 9.3%	2 3.7%
Using social media allowed me to express my emotions directly to the deceased.	29 53.7%	12 22.2%	6 11.1%	3 5.6%	4 7.4%
I asked the deceased for advice through social media	46 85.2 %	5 9.3%	3 5.6%	0 0.0%	0 0.0%
I used social media to ask the deceased to watch over me	39 72.2%	7 13.0%	6 11.1%	1 1.9%	1 1.9%
I felt connected to the deceased through reading the posts, messages and comments online.	21 38.9%	8 14.8 %	13 22.4%	8 14.8%	4 7.4%
I felt connected to the deceased by watching videos of them.	9 16.7%	6 11.1%	13 24.1%	9 16.7%	17 31.5%

Participants were asked to complete the continuing bond scale. The overall mean of the continuing bonds scale was 3.41 and the items produced a Cronbach's Alpha of .906 (Table 4.13). Participants were asked 11 questions and choose how true each statement related to their

continuing bond to the deceased. Numbers were assigned to their responses 1 = not true at all to 5 = very true.

Table 4.13

Continuing Bonds Scale

CBS item	Mean	SD
I seek out things to remind deceased	3.07	1.096
I keep items that belonged to or were closely associated with my deceased as a reminder of them	3.78	1.284
I like to reminisce with others about my deceased	3.83	1.129
I have inner conversations with the deceased where I turn to him or her for advice	2.77	1.382
Even though they are no longer physically present, the deceased continues to be a loving presence in my life	3.69	1.256
I am aware of having taken on many of the deceased habits, values or interests.	2.56	1.423
I am aware of the positive influenced the deceased had on who I am today.	4.28	1.036
I attempt to carry on the deceased wishes	3.70	1.268
I have many fond memories that bring joy to me	4.46	.794
When making decisions, I imagine the deceased viewpoint and use this as a guide in deciding what to do.	2.65	1.362
I experience the deceased as continuing to live on through me	2.74	1.470
N=54 Mean CBS score	3.41	

The researcher added 13 questions to the continuing bond scale that specifically asked the participants about their use of social media to create a continuing bond (Table 4.14).

Table 4.14

Continuing Bonds Scale with added social media items

CBS social media item	Mean	SD	
I utilize social media to share stories, pictures, writings about the deceased	2.30	1.341	
I used social media to post messages to the deceased that were public (as if I were talking to them)	1.44	.904	
I used social media to post messages that were private messages to the deceased (as if I were talking to them)	1.39	.899	
Posting messages to the deceased via social media helped me feel connected to the deceased.	1.67	1.182	
Using social media allowed me to express my emotions directly to the deceased.	1.91	1.248	
I asked the deceased for advice through social media.	1.20	.528	
I used social media to ask the deceased to watch over me.	1.48	.906	
I felt connected to the deceased through reading posts, messages and comments online.	2.37	1.336	
I felt connected to the deceased through leaving a voice mail on their phone	1.30	.792	
I felt connected to the deceased by texting their phone.	1.41	.981	
I felt connected to the deceased by listening to their voice mail messages	1.94	1.459	
I felt connected to the deceased by watching videos of them.	3.35	1.456	
I felt connected to the deceased when I read their blog	1.26	.732	
N=54 Mean Social Media Continuing bond score	1.73		

Participants were asked to complete the Core Bereavement Inventory (CBI). The overall mean of the CBI was 2.234, the items used produced a very strong Cronbach's Alpha of .944 (Table 4.15). Participants were asked 17 questions and were able to choose a response of 1 = never to 4 a lot of time. Numbers were assigned to their responses.

Table 4.15Core Bereavement Inventory

CBI item	Mean	SD	
Do you experience images of the events surrounding the deceased's death?	2.08	.805	
Do thoughts of the deceased come into your mind whether you wish it or not?	2.53	.890	
Do you think about the deceased?	2.92	.829	
Do images of the deceased make you feel distressed?	1.90	.799	
Do you find yourself preoccupied with images or memories of the deceased?	1.79	.825	
Do you find yourself thinking of a reunion with the deceased?	1.98	.866	
Do you find yourself missing the deceased?	3.25	.875	
Are you reminded by familiarly of the deceased objects (photos', possessions, rooms, etc.)?	2.53	1.012	
Do you find yourself pining for yearning for the deceased?	2.25	1.090	
Do you find yourself looking for the deceased in familiar places?	2.09	.986	
Do you feel distress/pain if for any reason you are confronted with the reality that the deceased is not present of coming back.	2.17	1.069	
Do reminders of deceased such photos, situations, music, places etc., cause you to feel longing for x ?	2.34	.979	
Do reminders of the deceased such as photos, situations, music, places, etc., cause you to feel loneliness?	1.81	.979	
Do reminders of the deceased such as photos, situations, music, places, etc., cause you to cry a lot.	2.00	1.000	
Do reminders of the deceased such as photos, situations, music, places, etc., cause you to feel sadness?	2.49	.846	
Do reminders of the deceased such as photos, situations, music, places, etc., cause you to feel loss of enjoyment?	1.66	.732	
N=51 Mean CBI	2.234		

Hypotheses 1

The first study hypothesis was the grieving college student's frequency of participation on social media after experiencing a death would be positively correlated with the level of importance of having a continuing bond to the deceased. Table 4.16 displays the results of the

bivariate correlations of the individual independent variables (frequency of participation on social media around the time of death, frequency of participation on social media between the death and the funeral, frequency of participation on social media from the funeral until six months after the death and frequency of participation on social media six months after the death to the present) and then all of the frequency variables combined.

There are five-time frames used to measure the use of social media, which is the independent variable in the hypothesis. These were correlated to the dependent variable of maintaining or creating a continuing bond. The results are presented in Table 4.16. As the table indicates there were no significant correlations between the use of social media and maintaining or creating a continuing bond. The results are not consistent with the study hypothesis.

Table 4.16

Bivariate correlations of the use of social media and continuing bonds

Variable	Coef	Significance	
1. Around the time of death	.289	.16	
2. Between the time found out of the death until the funeral or memorial service	.187	.37	
3. After the funeral through six months after the death.	.04	.87	
4. Six months after the death until the present.	.21	.34	
5. All of the frequencies Combined.	.24	.26	

Note: N = 26 around the time of death

N= 26 between the death and the funeral

N= 23 After funeral through six months

N= 24 Six months to the present

N=23 All of four of the combined

N= 54 How important to have a continuing bond

Hypothesis 2

The second hypothesis was that grieving college students who participated more frequently on social media after the death would be more likely to report positive experiences using social media. For the second hypothesis, bivariate logistical regressions were conducted, and the results are displayed in Table 4.17. There were five-time frames used to measure the use of social media, which was the independent variable in the hypothesis. None of the independent variables for the use of social media had significant correlation on the dependent variable (dichotomous coded), experience of using social media to cope.

Table: 4.17Bivariate logistical regression of experience on social medial platforms after a death

Variable	b	significance level
Around the time found out about the death	.000	1.0
2. Between the time found out about the death and funeral service	.048	.811
3. After the funeral service up through six months after the death	164	.549
4. Between six months after the death to the present.	097	.671
5. All the frequencies of use of social media	006	.931

N=22 around the time found out about death

N=25 between the time found out about death to funeral

N=22 after the funeral through six months after the death

N=23 between six months after the death to present

N=22 for all the frequencies of use of social media

Hypothesis 3

The third hypothesis was that grieving college students who had a close relationship to the deceased prior to the death would more than likely report a higher level of importance to maintaining a continuing bond to the deceased using social media. The results for testing this hypothesis are presented in Table 4.18. As the table indicates there were no significant correlations between the close relationship to the deceased prior to death and use of social media to maintain or create a continuing bond. The results are not consistent with the study hypothesis.

Table: 4.18Bivariate correlation between closeness to the deceased and use of social media to create or maintain continuing bonds

	Use of social media to create or maintain a continuing bond		Having a continuing bond	
Variable	Coef	significance level	Coef	significance level
Close relationship to the deceased	.053	.70	.56	0.00

N=54 for first correlation

N=52 for second correlation

p > .01

Hypothesis 4

The fourth hypothesis is grieving college students who had a close relationship to the deceased prior to the death will be more likely to have a continuing bond to the deceased.

As the Table 4.18 indicates closeness to the deceased prior to death is significantly correlated with having a continuing bond (r=.56). The results support the hypothesis.

Other questions evaluated from the survey

Participants were asked to evaluate if they felt it was appropriate to express grief on social media. Over 98% of respondents stated that it was either always or sometimes appropriate to express grief on social media, while 1.7% felt that it is never appropriate (Table 4.19).

Table 4.19Appropriateness of social media used to express grief

Variable:	Frequency/ Percentage
Always Appropriate	2 (3.4%)
Sometimes Appropriate	55 (94.8%)
Never Appropriate	1 (1.7%)
NI 50	

N = 58

Participants were asked to evaluate if social media had a role in how they found out about the death. Social media had no role in how 59.4% of the respondents found out about the death, however 15.6% stated that it had a small role. Social media had a moderate role for 3.1% and a significant role for 21.9% for how they found out about the death (Table 4.20).

Table 4.20

Role of social media in how you found out about death

e: Frequency/ Percentage	
19 (59.4%)	
5 (15.6%)	
1 (3.1%)	
7 (21.9%)	
	19 (59.4%) 5 (15.6%) 1 (3.1%)

Qualitative Findings

While creating the survey and reviewing the literature for this dissertation the researcher decided to gather qualitative data to gain more detailed information related to the survey and for participants to elaborate about the experience of using social media while grieving and if it helped create or maintain a continuing bond. By utilizing grounded theory to evaluate the qualitative data, the researcher was able to gain greater insight into the emotions and thoughts the participant had around the subject of grief, use of social media, and continuing bond.

Experiencing the death of a loved one can create many emotions and vulnerabilities. The themes from the participants' responses to the prompts are presented below.

"Close" Relationship

The relationship an individual had with the deceased prior to death could affect their coping process. Participants were asked to expand upon relationships to the deceased. Many described that they had important relationships to the departed loved ones.

"My grandfather and I were very close. We saw or contacted one another at least once per month. He was my favorite guy."

[&]quot;We were extremely close at one point, but had lost daily communication with one

another in the months leading up to his death just due to graduating and moving away."

"He came to all my school functions and sporting events. When I was in college, he was the first person I go see once I got home."

"He was my next-door neighbor all my life and we became close friends."

Attention Seeking

Social media platforms can be a space where grieving individuals' express their emotions while mourning. Whether this is space is suitable to cope with death of a loved one is often a personal preference. Some participants described that mourners may grieve online for selfish reasons.

"I feel it is important to make an initial post, then a memory or two of something should come up. After that maybe an anniversary of death or something in their birthday. People often over post, sometimes for attention, sometimes for an actual cry for help."

"If social media is a way for people to express their grief then it's appropriate. However, seeking attention is not appropriate nor posting info instead of saying it aloud to one's family."

"There is a difference in posting on social media as an outlet and posting solely to get attention and allow for individuals to question and react to the situation. There's a time and place for it."

"I think that it is alright to post a memorial of your friend/loved one. But some people do it too quickly, or in a dramatized manner. It is not appropriate to post a picture of yourself crying, that takes away from the situation and turns attention on yourself."

Public versus Private Grief

Everyone grieves differently over the death of a loved one. It is also important to understand why mourners may choose not to use social media platforms as an outlet to cope.

One common response by participants regarding why they do not use social media to cope with death is that grieving is more of a private emotion rather than public one.

"To me grieving is more of a personal process that I didn't feel like I was ready to express that in an open format such as social media."

"I feel that grief post on social media is sometimes used to gain attention. Loss of a family member is very personal, and I do not feel it should be used to gain attention. I did mention his death on social media, but it was more of a tribute and information about funeral arrangements."

"I don't have family on social media, so I don't feel the need to post about the loss, it feels like "fishing for sympathy" and I don't want that kind of negative attention."

Moreover, another individual stated they are not comfortable with posting feelings.

"I don't feel comfortable doing that."

Others stated that privacy is important to them. For example,

"I try not to put my life out there online. I like private grieving."

"Some of it is personal information that is not appropriate to share with the general public."

"I post privately for myself and publicly to raise awareness."

Some may post privately out of fear of scrutiny:

"I didn't want my family and friends seeing it and how I was affected and thinking I was stupid."

"Did not need the entire world to see the post, rather those close to me know about the struggle with the death."

Positive and Ambivalent Experiences

While coping with a loss, it is important for those who are grieving to be able to evaluate if the support they are receiving is sufficient to meet their emotional needs. This ability can sometimes guide the mourner with how to express their feelings. Participants describe their encounters on social media platforms to cope with their loss as affirmative and mixed.

"They were positive because it was mostly for support and it made me realize that there were a lot of other people that felt the same way I did."

"People posted nice things to remember our friend."

"I found out through his father on instant messenger, I would hold on to our photos that I could find anywhere. I would listen to his YouTube channel as well."

Other participants described ambivalent or mixed feelings about their experiences.

"It was nice seeing nice pictures or posts about my grandmother but it's a reminder of how broken my mother and her sister still are."

"No one was outright mean or rude about how I handled my grief on social media, but in real life I noticed that people start to pull away and I reduced how often I talked about it."

"Getting on social media at the time was hard because it was a constant reminder about what happened."

"Relieving to express emotions but still angry to posting due to situation (i.e. shouldn't have to because it shouldn't have happened."

Supportive Empathy

Often if individuals do not feel supported while grieving, they cannot continue processing their loss. Support and connection from others are essential components when mourning a loss. Both of these themes emerged through the writings of participants when describing their experiences while using social media to cope with grief.

"It's a good outlet for those who are grieving to receive support from family and friend and strangers alike."

"It was a way to see that you weren't alone in your grieving experience. It was nice to have people supporting me during this difficult time."

"It was helpful to connect and share information with others, but also bittersweet in the way that you could see everyone's grief which sometimes affected my own ."

"I felt supported and it gave me a way to remind people of the deceased It also reminded those that see me daily that it may be the reason I am struggling and sad on that particular day."

"It was nice to know that I was not alone."

Reminiscence and Purpose

The memories of the deceased impact the grief journey. These memories can include pictures, events, holidays or even specific places of importance. Some participants describe that

reminiscing about these events was done on social media platforms and was an important part of their mourning process.

"Anytime I'm reflecting on the past or memories with him involved come up" or days I remember doing stuff together and look back the pictures."

"I found out through his father through instant messenger. I would hold on to our photos I could find anywhere. I would listen to his YouTube channel as well."

"I think people can live through memories. My grandfather was an amazing person and it would be wrong of my family and I to not keep him alive through our memories."

Holidays were of significance to a few such as an anniversary or "Military Holidays." One participant used social media to create memorial fundraisers to remember the deceased.

"I did a fundraiser for breast cancer with the women's soccer team and told my mom's story."

"SFU has a suicide awareness walk. We post about our friend's death there."

Relationship even in death

Relationships are important in our daily lives, so why would a connection to the deceased not continue after a death occurs? Participants described their relationships with the deceased continuing even after the death. Some of the participants responses described the importance of keeping the continuing bond alive through multiple ways.

"Talked mainly with my mother-still wearing his clothes to bed."

"I believe that she is Heaven, and that I will one day be there too, so we will just be able to continue there and pick up where we left off."

"I think a lot of the values and ideas that my deceased loved one taught me lives on through what I do every day."

Another described that they worry about the deceased being forgotten as evidenced by this statement.

"I worry about people forgetting her. I would never want her stories of her life to go away. My family talks about her frequently."

Another participant felt that the deceased can still hear them, or they can communicate with them.

"Not only with the loss but with others I check Facebook pages of the deceased. I sometimes send private messages."

"I'd like to think he can hear me."

Continuing the bond was sustained through prayer and the afterlife:

"Truth, I do believe in life after death, and I'm sure I'll continue to pray for them for the rest of my life."

"I want her to know she is still a huge impact on my life, and I plan to reunite with her whenever my time comes."

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION

The prior chapters discussed the literature, methods, and the results of the research. The purpose of this study was to examine college students' use of social media while coping with grief and whether this usage creates a continuing bond. There is not a wealth of literature about this topic. The existing research surrounding social media usage among college students' while grieving is mostly qualitative. This pilot study combined undergraduate and graduate student's experiences of the grieving process and used both quantitative and qualitative methods.

Human subject research involves both limitations and insights. This study found that 55% of the participants did use social media while grieving. This was an affirmation of some of the previous research. Some participants reported they do desire a continuing bond. However, this study found that most do not use social media to create or maintain a continuing bond. Participants choose how they used different social media platforms and their frequency of usage during phases of the grieving process. This information adds insight to current and future research as there is little literature discussing frequency of participation on social media platforms while grieving. This section will explore the study results, discuss limitations, implications for practice and recommendations for future research.

Grief Theory

The experience of grief and loss is not stagnant; it evolves, and changes as does those who experience it. Those who are mourning often wrestle with the reality that the deceased will not return. Society tends to place limitations, stages and tasks on people in order for the grief to end or to "get over the loss." For this pilot study, the view of grief and loss experiences was based upon Worden's (2018) tasks of mourning. The last task in this theory suggests that individuals can create their own place of mourning for the deceased while moving on with life.

This portion of his theory is more active and allows the griever to not give up on their relationship with the deceased, while moving forward in their reconciliation of the death.

Expression of this relationship can be multifaceted as individuals can continue the relationship via journaling, praying, listening to music etc. However, social media platforms are a place where many digital natives (millennials, Generation Z and beyond) often go to understand, express and validate their emotions and feelings. The exploratory research in this study supports that students do go to social media platforms to cope and process their grief and loss experiences.

Experience Loss in College

Participants in this pilot study confirm that college students do experience a death while trying to complete their undergraduate and graduate education and the individual is often a grandparent and/or friend. These findings are consistent with those reported by Balk et al.(2010), Cupit et al. (2016). Interestingly, the university that was chosen for this research study had three students die in the six months prior to the start of this study. Typically, college is a time of enjoying friendships not experiencing the trauma of losing one. It was very evident in some of the qualitative responses that the loss of friendship was difficult and unanticipated.

Use of Social Media while Grieving

This pilot study confirmed the fact that college students do use social media rather frequently and tend to use the preferred platforms as reported by Anderson and Jiang (2018) of Instagram, Snapchat and YouTube. This study also corroborated that this generation utilizes Facebook less frequently than previous generations. This pilot study validates that generational usage of social media platforms is ever changing and evolving. While completing the study, three different social media sites were identified that could have been added to the study:

TikTok, Group Me and VSCO. These platforms were brought to the attention of the researcher by respondents as they were utilized but were not options in the survey.

Respondents in this pilot study reported that there are particular social media platforms that they used more frequently than others depending on the length of time since death.

However, it was interesting that Facebook was intertwined periodically depending upon the timeframe of usage into the top three choices of Instagram, Snapchat and YouTube. This result may indicate that as respondents grieve, they go to other platforms to seek out information surrounding the death or even arrangements as relatives may use Facebook to keep others informed. These findings relate to the pyramid created by Sofka (2018) documenting how teens are using social media to cope with loss. She suggests that teens use social media platforms for various reasons such as: notification, communal support, online memorialization, continuing bonds, and digital legacy and advocacy. Through social media sites mourners are finding support and coping with the loss in various ways.

Facebook has been a staple in the social media realm and will continue to be a place where multiple grievers go to express their emotions. This platform cannot be overlooked, as it was one of the first platforms to allow for an individual who had died to still have their social networking profile "alive" in the internet realm, which we now refer to as digital legacies. As this generation and future generations continue to grow their digital legacies in Snapchat memories, YouTube videos, Instagram, and other emerging platforms, it is likely that they will have multiple albums of not only their own digital memories but friends and relatives alike.

Social media has often been viewed differently across generations. Today college students often check their social media platforms as part of their daily routines and find this form of communication with their peers, family members and friends essential. Most individuals have

become so adept at sharing their own lives in this space that often times many forget it is public, until it is too personal and the thought of others seeing the inner self is too much of an intrusion. This pilot study showed how grief can be expressed in the private and public realm. Sixty-five percent of those who used social media to cope with death posted privately, while 25% posted both privately and publicly. Grief has often been viewed in society as something that is done in secret. Some hold beliefs that people are weak if they show how much the loss has impacted their daily living.

As a society, we still battle the negativity that surrounds expression of the grief and loss experience. Mourning is a healthy way of conveying the grief one feels inside and is natural for the body, soul and mind to heal. One form of expression for Generation Z is through social media yet many are ambivalent about utilizing the platforms for this purpose. Placing emotions about a loss on social media site whether private or public requires some vulnerability and risk on the part of the mourner. Other reactions to a grief experience can either benefit or hinder the mourning process.

The experience of using social media to cope with loss was mostly positive in this pilot study. Of those participants who used social media to cope with grief, 60% felt that it was somewhat helpful, which is comparable to the study by Balk and Varga (2018), where 54% of respondents felt that is was helpful. There is a complexity to the processing of grieving emotions on social media. To choose to dialogue with others on a social media platform about the very personal experience of grieving a loss could be intimidating. Online grieving may not be for all mourners, as 33% stated that they have not considered using at all about using social media to cope with the death of a loved one. However, some of the participants did find great benefit with the freedom to express their grief experience online.

Supportive empathy was a theme that emerged in this study as participants provided insight as to whether coping with grief on social media was beneficial. Empathy is a staple in the social work community; it is necessary in the therapeutic relationship. The study illuminated that supportive empathy can and will occur in the online world when grieving. Respondents suggested that they were reminded that they were not alone in their grieving process and found the support of others beneficial.

The ambivalence of posting on social media platforms was found in this research. Some participants did not post based on apprehension of what has been said or will be stated on social media platforms. There could also the fear of what DeGrott (2014) describes in her research as "emotional rubberneckers," individuals who may visit a social media site just for the information about the event or deceased surrounding the death. The intentional message by the mourner to the social media platform may be misconstrued or misused by those who are viewing information about the deceased. This action may deflect from the envisioned purpose of the post by the mourner. This is just one reason that social media platforms are not always used to cope with loss as mourners may fear that posting may lead to deeper despair and loss. Further research would be valuable in the area of how supportive empathy can benefit college students who are experiencing a loss, and if it benefits their journey into reconciliation of the death.

Continuing Bonds

Continuing bond as defined in the study was "the presence of an ongoing inner relationship with the deceased person by a bereaved individual" (Stroebe & Schut, 2005, p. 477). Silverman and Nickman (2006) further described the continuing bonds as how the inner relationship (bond) to the deceased can be influenced by the interaction with the community. Based upon these definitions provided to the participants, close to 68% stated that a continuing

bond was either extremely important or very important. This means that an understanding of what a continued or maintained relationship to the deceased could look like or that it is not only an inner relationship but also a communal relationship was vital. Furthermore, it appears that assisting the participants with understanding the definition of a continuing bond was beneficial as it allowed them to have a reference point to view their own continuing bonds to the deceased.

There is much debate about whether having a continuing bond to the deceased is therapeutic. It is important to understand the nature of the continuing bond to the deceased by the mourner prior to making judgement about whether a continuing bond is something to keep or relinquish as an effective coping outlet (Stroebe & Schut, 2005). Others have described that the type of attachment to the deceased prior to death is vital to understanding whether or not a continuing bond is affirming or detrimental to coping with the death (Root & Exline, 2014).

This pilot study did not focus on the type of attachment that the mourner had prior to the death, yet the relationship between the closeness to the deceased prior to death and use of social media was studied and found not to be statistically significant. However, there is significance to understanding the type of attachment or closeness that could impact how one grieves.

Kosminsky (2018) describes that the type of attachment prior to death does have an impact on the how the mourner maintains a continuing bond with the deceased. The assumption that a close relationship to the deceased and use of social media was not found as significant in the quantitative portion of this study. However, participants did write narratives about how they used social media to continue a bond in the qualitative portion. Further evaluation of attachment, the use of social media and continuing bonds should be explored in a larger sample size.

In this pilot study, the respondents were asked to describe their relationship to the deceased prior to death and over 60% noted that they had very close or close relationships. For

example, two students described their close relationship to their departed friend as instrumental in who they are today and would define what a friend is based upon the deceased impact on their lives. The results of the study suggest that relationship and continuing bond could be connected, just not through social media. In a study by Stein et. al, (2018), all of the young adult participants (N=20), mentioned having a continuing bond to the deceased through personal connection, personal change and homage activities. This aligns with the current study as the participants desired or wanted a continuing bond.

Meaning making of the death or loss and the personal narrative of the death assists in the understanding the nature of the relationship, and attachment style prior to death. Understanding this process of continuing bond, attachment and nature of the relationship prior death could have implications on treatment and effective coping processes while someone is grieving. This is also evidenced in statements by two of the participants:

"As he was my trainer, I keep his memory alive by constantly working hard on my health and wellness. It makes me feel like he is proud of me, even if I do not necessarily believe in the afterlife."

"I think a lot of the value and ideas that my deceased loved one taught me lives on through what I do every day."

A mourner constructs their own meaning to the loss that has occurred. Allowing grieving individuals to respond in and make sense of their loss is a way to reconstruct their narrative or story.

Social Media and Continuing bonds

At the onset of this study, this researcher thought that a continuing bond would be achieved through social media. Some of participants did express their grief experiences of creating or maintaining continuing bonds through social media, however future research with a

larger sample size would be beneficial to augment these findings. As stated earlier, participants were asked to read the definition that was provided to them by the researcher about continuing bonds and then were asked to identify if they used social media to create a continuing bond. Close to 70% of the respondents suggested that they did not use social media to create a continuing bond. Yet, in a recent dissertation by McBride (2019), she found, with a much larger sample size, that emerging adults positively viewed social media as an avenue for coping and maintaining continuing bonds. In another study by Thimm and Nehls (2017), mourners used Instagram to show a digital story of their grief or loss. Consequently, in this study, it could be surmised that the continuing bonds definition provided might not have matched the participants' view of the usage of social media to create or maintain a continuing bond while grieving. However, some of the participants actions did create or maintain a continuing bond to the deceased.

If mourners are sharing a digital story of their grief and loss, they are creating a community or having interaction with a community by posting pictures or writing comments on Instagram or other social media platforms. This behavior was indicated by the participants in the study, as almost 44% responded that they do go to social media to support others and look at pictures of the deceased. One participant responded that they use social media to speak directly to the deceased:

"Not only with loss but with others I check Facebook pages of the deceased. I sometimes send private messages."

The definition of having or maintaining or having a continuing bond could have also meant something different to each of the pilot study participants. The use of social media to create or maintain a continuing bond might be perceived in a completely different manner by the

participant than how the researcher manifested it for the survey. Qualitative interviews could have gained greater insight into their individual use of social media while coping with grief or loss and if it created or maintained a continuing bond. Qualitative interviewing gives the researcher a more in depth look at the human experience and might have even provided the participant the opportunity to give the researcher their own definition of continuing bond, which could influence future research.

Another possible reason that social media was not used to create or maintain a continuing bond in this pilot study is possibly the fear of a secondary loss (Bassett, 2018; Kasket, 2012). If something occurs on the social media site that causes more harm, or the site is no longer available to cope with the loss, this could potentially become a secondary loss. In other words, it causes the bereaved to be even more vulnerable to another loss if the social media outlet is deleted by the internet platform or family members who are controlling the deceased's legacy.

Other Approaches to forming Continuing Bonds

Klass and Steffen (2018) describe how grief and the continuing bonds can create an intersubjective meaning that it is between the individual mourning and the community of people that they are bonded to. Every mourner creates or attaches meaning to their own grief narrative as developed in their circle of friends and family, or even spiritual realms. Other resources or strategies that were identified by respondents in this study to keep the connection alive or cope with the loss were talking with family and friends, prayer, listening to music, and keeping a personal item of the deceased.

"Reading our old conversations through texts or Memorialize through words expressed to them or old words social media was something I did a lot after his death. It helped me remember our friendship and how much I appreciated him."

[&]quot;I wear her earrings frequently."

"Remain in contact with the individual's parents/loved ones."

"Got a tattoo in memory of the deceased."

As evidenced by these statements, grief is intersubjective and mourning and continuing bond actions are multifaceted.

Limitations

The research found that a little over half of those who participated used social media to cope with the grief. The results indicated that three major sources were used while grieving were Snapchat, Facebook and Instagram, while blogging sites and or Tumblr were hardly ever utilized to express grief. However, there is a limitation to these results as the sample size was N=58. Of the 58 respondents, only 32 utilized social media to cope with grief. This limitation caused some difficulty when gaining statistical significance in results, and with further analysis the sample was reduced even further due to missing values. The survey was created on Survey Monkey® and distributed via email. Some participants did not answer or skipped various questions, lowering the number of usable surveys. The quality of the data collected may be valid, but the results needed higher larger sample set to reach a statistical power. It's possible that the data collection phase was ended prematurely, as the volume of incompletions rendered some data unusable. The amount of time since the participant experienced a death was also a limitation. A participant could not answer the survey if they had not experienced a death in the last two years. Expanding the timeframe may have allowed for more inclusion in the project. Nonetheless, the percentage who used social media to cope with death was comparable to a larger sample size research study completed by Varga and Varga (2019), which 43% of their participants used social media while grieving. Regardless, the study provided some necessary insight into the topic.

Another major limitation of this survey was the lack of diversity. Most of the sample size was of one ethnicity. This does not give an accurate description of how different ethnicities grieve and cope with loss or utilize social media. This limitation is also due to the convenience sampling and self-selection for this project.

Due to the ever-changing landscape of social media, not all platforms were explicitly included. TikTok and GroupMe were not social media options that existed when the survey was distributed. Some of the qualitative results indicated that students have used these sites to express grief. Continual appraisal of trends on social medial platforms and use in the grieving process should be ongoing.

The survey for this study was extensive as it had many questions related to the frequency of use of social media while grieving as well as many descriptors. The created survey had never been used before as this was a pilot study. Many of the questions were informed by the literature and reviewed by an expert in this field, however this actual survey was never tested until this study, so reliability and validity has not been established for this questionnaire. The qualitative responses were also expected to gain more insight into the use of social media while grieving, however some of the participants did not choose to expand upon their answers. The information gained was valuable, however in-depth qualitative interviews might have provided more insight.

Despite the limitations, the knowledge that was gained will further the study of grieving college students use of social media to create or maintain a continuing bond. The data provided greater insight into college student's various uses of social media while coping with grief. The exploratory quantitative and qualitative findings may provide future researchers with valuable knowledge about this topic.

Implications for Future Research

This research adds to the limited knowledge concerning college students and their use of social media to create or maintain continuing bonds. The findings of this study confirm that college students experience deaths during their university careers. How they cope and handle the stress it creates has been studied; however, the student population that is currently enrolled in college and is going to enroll over the next few years are a different generation and have coped with stressors by using social media outlets as evidenced by this research. The survey could be replicated, using a larger more diverse sample size to expand upon the findings. Further study of how college students define a continuing bond on social media would give greater insight into whether it is actually already occurring on the current social media platforms.

The created survey for this study has some insightful questions and psychometric properties. Future studies could include the scales and they might have some of the same success with a larger sample size. The additional survey questions that were created for this study could be quite beneficial to future research and assist in continuing the research concerning college students and their use of social media to create or maintain a continuing bond.

The concept of continuing bond is important to college students as evidenced by the results of this study. This study did indicate that students do use social media when grieving. However, students in this sample did not use it to create a continuing bond. Future research could focus on the concept of what influences college students to use social media to create a continuing bond. It could explore behaviors occurring on social media that could indicate a continuing bond to the deceased that were not reflected on the survey used to complete this study. Is it because continuing bond may look different to every individual, and possibly they are creating a continuing bond using social media, but not defining it as such. Future research

could focus on the behaviors (posting pictures, creating a video) that mourners exhibit online to express their grief and does this contribute to the definition of a continuing bond. Further research would be beneficial to understand how college students are using social media outlets to grieve such as posting pictures on Instagram, creating a video on TikTok or using another social media method to memorialize or cope with loss.

Implications of the co-existence of the therapeutic alliance and online supports could also be areas of future research. Does the presence of an online community increase or decrease the longevity of treatment for the grieving individual? If there is substantial support online does it create or maintain a continuing bond and what purpose does this online support system provide to the mourner? Does this online support network help or hinder the grieving the bereavement process? All of the questions could be explored in future research and have implications on clinical practice.

Clinical Implications for Educators and Clinical Social Work Practice

As I am writing this dissertation, the world is experiencing the COVID-19 pandemic and the landscape of clinical practice is evolving on a daily basis. If undergraduate and graduate college students were not using online services prior to COVID-19, now they are currently being forced to adapt to the online realm. Social media platforms are and will continue to be an outlet for students who are grieving. Grieving a death is not the only way that students are using social media platforms as we have witnessed over the last month. There have been protests associated with Black Lives Matter and other social justice movements informed by grief and loss that have occurred on social media or been organized on social media to happen in person. Social work values and grief are at an intersection at the micro and macro levels. This type of social work practice can be called survivor advocacy. Sofka (2017) suggests that survivor advocacy is a way

for grieving individuals to become active mourners. Social media platforms can become a space where grieving individuals can come together and react in response to traumatic events or loss. This type of reaction creates a space for the bereaved take action and move through the grieving process with purpose.

As an educator who is preparing entry level professional social workers and a practitioner in this field, understanding and assisting a client on their grief journey is often complicated and messy. Being forced to grieve online because of pandemic is quite complicated. I have observed the actions of students navigating the ever-changing space of what this pandemic has created and witnessed a lot of uncertainty. Currently students grieving the death of a loved one also are required to create a space for the loss of the traditional learning environment that they envisioned for their collegiate years. This generates an interesting paradox for students, clinicians, and educators alike. The uncertainty of the pandemic has added to the grief and oftentimes will create more anxiety for the mourner. To meet the rapid changes occurring during this time educators and practitioners have been required to transform their professional practice quickly and incorporate the use of different online platforms. Practicing clinicians converted from inperson therapy to tele-therapy and academics have switched their in-person pedagogy to online teaching. Students who are mourning a death during this time could have an increased anxiety while grieving due to modifications to their learning and supportive environment and loss of usual forms of social supports.

As educators of college students, it is imperative that we watch for and recognize the signs of a grieving student. Further development and training of college educators on how to recognize the signs, symptomology and adverse effects of grief is necessary to assist students. Also, training college educators to increase their knowledge about social media platforms in

order to gain an understanding about how and why students use these platforms to express themselves to others could be advantageous. Furthermore, as social work educators, it is important that we remind students about their digital footprints and the accessibility clients to those footprints. It's clear that we don't know what the future holds regarding how internet based social work services will be delivered in the upcoming years. We will need to stay current and fluent in the online interpersonal community.

As Cupit, Sofka and Gilbert (2012) describe in their book, thanatechnology allows for more possibilities for practitioners and educators. Furthermore, as practitioners it is important to include in our assessments, when working with the college students, questions about their use of social media platforms, their frequency of use, and if they have found it to be beneficial to their grieving process. Sofka (2017) describes having deliberate conversations with adolescents about their usage of social media accounts while grieving and furthermore if something were to happen to them how would they want their digital legacy preserved. These types of conversations could assist in the therapeutic process for the mourner to understand the benefits and shortcomings of using social media outlets to grieve.

Incorporating this into clinical practice may work for some clients who do use online platforms and find it beneficial. Goodyear-Brown and Gott (2020) in the edited book *Integrating-technology into modern therapies*, discuss how they use video games, apps, emojis, and virtual reality in trauma work and recovery with children. These mechanisms are used in Traumaplay® for children who have experienced complex trauma and have delays due to their experiences. These types of treatment modalities could be explored and incorporated into treatment of grieving college students who are adept with technology.

This pilot study confirmed that the use of social media platforms while grieving provides support for some. College students are utilizing social media to grieve and as educators and social workers, we must adapt and learn. The grieving landscape has changed as mourners have been mandated to social distance from one another, and in many areas of the country, funerals or memorial services have been considered unsafe, postponed, canceled or only allowed to have very limited attendance. Individuals are being forced to get support during their time of grief and loss through social media platforms both synchronously and asynchronously. If this study were to be completed again, the data would undoubtably look differently due to the pandemic as online grieving has increased all over the world.

During this pandemic countless have experienced some sort of loss and may have even suffered the death of a loved one. Many grieving individuals have turned to social media to gain a support system or even community during this unprecedented time. In some cases, social media platforms were the only outlet to get support about the loss experienced. Human beings desire and long for connection. As an educator, it became very evident that some students desire and need a sense of community and many used their social media resources to fulfill this emptiness and lament with others about what they lost. These students have created virtual communities with different types of communal bonds which may have provided some healing during this difficult time.

As educators preparing for the incoming class of freshman entering college or traditional graduate students entering their master programs this fall, we need to understand that this class will be different from others. They have missed out on the pomp and circumstance of graduation and celebratory events. Some may not be about to go to their school of choice due to the pandemic. Their view and meaning of graduation and entering this new phase of life is different

and constructed around what they did not get to experience. Educators and practitioners must prepare a new lens of understanding this population. We are reminded that loss is universal. Supporting and connecting students to their 'new culture' requires all of us to find connections and implications for moving forward.

The relationship between therapist and client is vital to progression in the therapy setting. This unique bond is not easy to achieve and often takes weeks if not months to create a therapeutic alliance. A client who is mourning a loss may not know where to begin their grief journey, nor know that creating a therapeutic relationship is necessary to work toward the goal of reconciliation of their loss. As clinicians begin to understand the propensity to use social media platforms for grief work, we should be inclined to add more qualitative or verbal narratives to the intake assessment. This action will allow clients to bring up social media accounts in session to review and understand their grief processing. This may allow the client to tell their grief journey through the narrative lens of pictures, stories and anecdotes on their social media platforms. This type of work could be completed in many different modalities such as TF-CBT, narrative, EMDR and RCT.

Clinical social workers work to create a space for the mourner that is safe, yet allows for vulnerability. Creating a space that is conducive for this therapeutic work often takes time. Allowing the client to have a constructionist viewpoint of the loss gives them the freedom to create their own narrative from their grief story (Neimeyer & Currier, 2009). Assessing the client's grief from this view gives them the freedom to share how they may have used other outlets such as social media platforms for support in grief.

Online spaces are often sought by those who are grieving as forms of support.

Sometimes this may be because other support systems are lacking or they may not seek a

professional therapeutic relationship. Additionally, these spaces offer an opportunity to connect with others who are grieving. Emotional support is often found in the online community as evidenced in this study. This type of support often is sought out because it is an understanding community, a group of individuals who are grieving different losses but come to a place that is safe and where they can be known. In their metanalysis of qualitative studies of online communities, Robins and Pond (2019) found that an understanding community was a key to why individuals were using online support. Furthermore, it is place where those who are grieving can possibly bring up thoughts and feelings that they would not normally bring forth in any other setting. In the qualitative study by Varga and Paulus (2014) many individuals who had never utilized an online community for support, found that they could tell their narratives about their grief and loss journeys. Some described their use of online support to assist in their physical and emotional wellbeing. As in indicated by Moore et al. (2019), some of their research found that individuals use social media platforms to share information about the death and begin to share emotions and gain supportive empathy, which was supported in this current study.

In social work practice, we desire for our clients to have a community that supports and understands them outside of the therapeutic setting. For future practice, clinical social workers need to be prepared to discuss with their clients in the therapeutic setting the assistance they have found in the grief based online communities. This may influence the social workers' approach to treatment based on the information provided by the client. The clinician may want to provide insights to the client about the benefits or detriments they may have using an online community rather than support from those physically present.

Conclusion

This study added to the knowledge of college students use of social media while grieving. It furthered our understanding about frequency of use of social media during specific time frames while grieving, which was not previously identified in literature. This study documented that college students do continue to have ambivalent emotions as to whether or not social media should be used to express grief and loss, but gave greater insight into why and how social media can be beneficial to the mourner. Furthermore, college students do believe that a continuing bond to the deceased is important; however, in this study the majority did not use social media platforms to achieve the continuing bond. It is evidenced in some literature that social media was used by college students to create a continuing bond (Balk & Varga, 2018, Varga & Varga, 2019. Continued research is necessary about the use of social media to create or maintain a continuing bond to the deceased and how we in both the clinical and educational realm can support their grief journeys.

APPENDICES

Appendix A: Email for Recruitment Appendix B: Informed Consent Appendix C: Survey

Appendix A:

Recruitment Email:

Subject Line: Participants sought for study about college students and use of social media while grieving.

Dear Student at

My name is Suzanne Black, Associate Professor of Social Work at St. Francis University and doctoral candidate at the University of Pennsylvania School of Social Policy and Practice, and I am seeking participants for a research study. You are receiving this email because you are a student at Saint Francis University. This research study is trying to understand how college students use social media to cope with the grief after experiencing a death. Interested participants must be between the ages of 18-24 and be enrolled at undergraduate or graduate student and have experienced a death of a loved one with in the last two years.

If you choose to participate in this study, which is completely voluntary, you will be asked to complete a survey that will entail about 20-30 minutes of your time. Your participation is confidential and anonymous. If you are interested, please click on the link for the informed consent www.link to consent. Once the informed consent read and understood you will be directed to the survey. If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me at sblack@francis.edu.

Thanks for your time:

Suzanne Black, MSSA, LSW Associate Clinical Professor of Social Work Saint Francis University Doctoral Student at the University of Pennsylvania School of Social Policy and Practice

Ap	pendix	B:
----	--------	----

Informed Consent

INFORMED CONSENT TO PARTIPATE FORM

Title of Research Remembering those we have lost through social media:

Study: College students and the continuing bonds of grief.

Principal Dr. Kate Ledwith, DSW, LCSW

Investigator: <u>Kledwith@upenn.edu</u>

215-898-5538

Co-Investigator: Suzanne Black, MSSA, LSW

Sublack@upenn.edu

814-937-3431

You are being invited to participate in a research study. Your participation is voluntary, and you should only participate if you completely understand what the study requires and what the risks of participation are. Before you decide to participate you will need to know the purpose of the study, the possible risks and benefits of being in the study and what you will have to do to participate.

What is the purpose of this study?

The research study is being conducted to assess if college students utilize social media to cope with their grief and loss experiences and to understand if a continuing bond is created through the use of social media. To further investigate this phenomenon, a mixed method research design will be utilized to assess college students' grieving practices on social media. Those who are eligible to participate in this study are undergraduate and graduate students who are between the ages of 18-24 and have experienced a death within the last two years (24 months). This study is being conducted in part to fulfill the dissertation requirements for a doctorate in clinical social work degree from the University of Pennsylvania.

How long will I be in the study and how many people will be in the study?

This one-time survey	y will take approximately	20-30 minutes to complete.	All undergraduate and
graduate students at		will be asked to	participate in the
study.			

What will I be asked to do?

First, you will be asked to provide demographic information. Then you will be asked to answer questions about a recent death in your life, identifying the relationship and type of loss. Then, you will be asked about your social media usage after you experienced the death, and did social media create a continuing bond. Finally, you will be asked to complete two scales, The Continuing Bonds Scale and the Core Bereavement Inventory. The survey will be anonymous, the researcher will not be able to identify the participant.

You have the right to stop the survey at any time during your participation.

What are the Risks?

The risks of this study are minimal; however, the subject of this study may elicit some emotions. Death, grief and loss are difficult topics for some individuals. If the participant/subject does have an emotional response to this survey, please contact the Counseling Center is available to you at 814-472-3211, a 24-hour crisis hotline at 1-877-268-9463 or the Crisis Hotline Lifeline at 1-800-273-8255.

How will I benefit from this Study?

While you will not directly benefit from participation in this study, however, your participation could help the researcher understand the use of social media among college students while grieving and if it creates continuing bonds to the deceased. This could benefit you indirectly. In the future, this may help other universities better assist grieving college students. It will give us a better understanding of the positive and negative effects social media utilization can have on college students while grieving.

PUBLICATION STATEMENT

The results of this study may be published in scientific journals, professional publications, or educational presentations; however, no individual subject will be identified.

How will confidentiality be maintained?

All responses are anonymous and cannot be linked back to you. All information will be stored and be kept indefinitely and could be store and distributed for future research studies without additional informed consent.

SUBJECT RIGHTS

- 1. I understand that informed consent is required of all persons participating in this project.
- 2. I have been told that I may refuse to participate or to stop my participation in this project at any time before or during the project. I may also refuse to answer any question.

- 3. Any risks and/or discomforts have been explained to me, as have any potential benefits.
- 4. I understand the protections in place to safeguard any personally identifiable information related to my participation.
- 5. I understand that, if I have any questions, I may contact Suzanne Black, MSSA, LSW at 814-472-3091. I may also contact Dr. Kate Ledwith, University of Pennsylvania faculty sponsor, dissertation chair at 215-898-5538.

Any questions regarding my rights as a research subject may be addressed to the Saint Francis University Institutional Review Board Dr. Kristopher Wisniewski and Dr. Heather Vitko, cochairs and or the University of Pennsylvania Institutional Review Board(IRB) at, (215) 898-2614 for assistance.

All research projects that are carried out by Investigators at Saint Francis University and The University of Pennsylvania are governed be requirements of the University and the federal government.

I have read (or have had read to me) the contents of this consent form and have been encouraged

to ask questions. I have received answers to my questions to my satisfaction.
If you agree to participate in this study, please indicate your consent below.
I WILL participate in the survey research
I will not participate in the survey research.

Appendix C:

Survey

Demographics

- 1. What is your gender identity?
 - a. Male B. Female C. Gender non- conforming D. Transgender E. Prefer not to say
- 2. What is your age?
- 3. What year are you in college?
 - a. Freshman b. Sophomore c. Junior D. Senior E. Graduate
- 4. Where primarily do you take classes?
 - a. campus b. online c. both
- 5. What is your ethnic /racial identity?
 - a. Hispanic or Latino
 - b. American Indian
 - c. Alaskan Native
 - d. Asian
 - e. Black or African American
 - f. Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander
 - g. White
 - h. Multi-racial
 - i. Race/ethnicity unknown

Grief and Loss Experience

- 6. Have you experienced the death of one or more family member(s), close friend(s) and/or pet (s) in the last two years (24 months)?
 - a. Yes b. No

If no, please stop. (The online version will have a thanks for participating statement).

- 7. Please identify the relationship to the individual(s)/pet(s) who died within the last 2 years/ (24 months). If you have had more than one, please check all that apply.
 - a. Parent
 - b. Step Parent
 - c. Spouse
 - d. Partner
 - e. Child

m.	Boyfriend
n.	Girlfriend
0.	Significant other
p.	Roommate
q.	Pet
r.	Other
8. If you che	cked more than one individual who died over the last 2 years (24 months) in the
previous q	uestion, please choose ONE individual or pet that you will answer the rest of the
survey abo	out.
a.	Parent
b.	Step Parent
c.	Spouse
d.	Partner
e.	Child
f.	Sibling
g.	Grandparent
h.	Step Grandparent
i.	Uncle
j.	Aunt
k.	Cousin
1.	Friend
m.	Boyfriend
n.	Girlfriend
0.	Significant other
p.	Roommate
q.	Pet
r.	
9. What was	the date of the death?
10. How were	you first notified of the death?
	Family
b.	Friends
c.	Social Media
d.	Email
e.	Television/news
f.	Other

f. Siblingg. Grandparenth. Step Grandparent

i. Unclej. Auntk. Cousinl. Friend

11. Rate the closen	less of your relation	onship to the decease	ed prior to the death	1.
Not close at all		Somewhat close		Very Close
1	2	3	4	5
Text Box: If you v deceased.	vish, please provi	de additional comm	ents about your rela	ationship to the
b. Can c. Cer d. Alz e. Sui f. Hor g. Acc h. Ove	ort disease ocer ebrovascular (stro heimer's cide micide cident	ke)		
13. Did you have a	iny awareness or v	varning that the dea	th was going to occ	ur?
b. Exp c. Exp	pected; but caught	ed when it happened off guard when it ha	appened.	
Text Box: If you v Social Media Usa		de comments about	t your level of awar	eness.
		the following socia	l media sites for an	y reason?
Type of Social Media	Frequently	Occasionally	Never	
Facebook				
Instagram				
Twitter				
Snapchat				
Tumblr				
YouTube				
Blogging Site				
Other:				

Text box:

15. Prior to the death, indicate how often you used each type of social media

Type of Social Media	Frequently	Occasionally	Never
Facebook			
Instagram			
Twitter			
Snapchat			
Tumblr			
YouTube			
Blogging Site			
Other:			
Text box:			

16. Do you believe that social media is an appropriate place to express grief?

a. always appropriate b. sometimes appropriate c. never appropriate

Text Box: If you wish, please, describe your answer.

- 17. Have you used any type of social media to cope with the death?
 - a. Yes

b. No

Text Box: If you answered no, please describe why?

If you **did not** use any type of social media while grieving the deceased, please go question 31.

- 18. Did social media have a role in how you found out about the death?
 - a. Social media had no role at all
 - b. Social media had a small role
 - c. Social media had a moderate role
 - d. Social media had a significant role
- 19. Did you use social media to share information/news that the death occurred?
 - a. Yes

b. No

If you answered no, please go to question 21

20.	Please indicate the type(s) of social media you used to share information about the deat	th
	and how often you used it for this purpose.	

Type of Social Media	Frequently	Occasionally	Never
Facebook			
Instagram			
Twitter			
Snapchat			
Tumblr			
YouTube			
Blogging Site			
Other: Text box:			

Frequency of Use Social Media Platforms when coping with a death:

To assist us in understanding your usage of social media while coping with the death, please check the types and frequency of social media usage during each time frame after the death.

21. For each type of social media indicate how often you used it **around the time you found out** about the death.

Type of Social Media	Frequently	Occasionally	Never
Facebook			
Instagram			
Twitter			
Snapchat			
Tumblr			
YouTube			
Blogging Site			
Other: Text box:			

22. For each type of social media, indicate how often you used it between the time you found out about the death and when the memorial service or funeral was held.

Type of Social Media	Frequently	Occasionally	Never
Facebook			
Instagram			
Twitter			
Snapchat			
Tumblr			
YouTube			
Blogging Site			
Other: Insert			

23. For each type of social media, indicate how often you used it **after the funeral up through 6 months after the death**. (If the death occurred less than 6 months ago please indicate the number of months). _____ months

Type of Social Media	Frequently	Occasionally	Never
Facebook			
Instagram			
Twitter			
Snapchat			
Tumblr			
YouTube			
Blogging Site			
Other: Insert			

24.	For each type of social media indicate how	often you	have used	social media	between 6
	months after the death to the present.				

Type of Social Media	Frequently	Occasionally	Never
Facebook			
Instagram			
Twitter			
Snapchat			
Tumblr			
YouTube			
Blogging Site			
Other: Insert			

25. Please use the chart below to answer the following questions about your usage of social media after the death.

	Frequently	Occasionally	Never
I accessed social media to learn personal			
information about the deceased.			
I used social media for support after the death.			
I used social media to support others after the			
death.			
I went to social media to post pictures of the			
deceased.			
I used social media to look at pictures that others			
had posted of the deceased.			
I visited the deceased's social media site(s).			
I used social media to gain information about the			
death itself or events (funeral plans, memorials).			
I used social media to read comments that others			
had posted about the deceased.			
I used social media to respond to others postings			
about the deceased.			

I used social media to start a dialogue or conversation with others who knew the		
deceased.		
I used social media to stay connected with the		
person who died.		
I used social media to make sure that the		
deceased is not forgotten.		

- 26. Since the death has occurred, have you used social media on any of these specific occasions to cope with your grief? (check all that apply)
 - a. Birthday of the deceased
 - b. Anniversary of the death
 - c. Holidays
 - d. Other important occasions/events or times of year.

Text box: Please describe the other important occasion(s).

- 27. When you used social media to cope with the death, were your postings private or public?
 - a. Private
- b. Public
- c. Both

Text Box: If you wish, please describe what influenced your decision to post privately or publicly on social media.

The Positive and Negative Aspects of Social Media after a death

- 28. Has social media been helpful to you as a resource to cope with your grief?
 - a. Very helpful
 - b. Somewhat helpful
 - c. Neutral
 - d. Somewhat unhelpful
 - e. Not helpful at all
- 29. What type of experience(s) did you have posting on social media to cope with the death? (Check all that apply)
 - a. Positive:

Text Box: Please describe your experience

b. Negative

Text Box: Please describe your experience

c. Mixed

Text Box: Please describe your experience

30. How often did you have the following occur while using social media to cope with the death?

	Frequently	Occasionally	Never
Social media			
allowed me to			
express myself			
while coping			
with the grief.			
I felt connected			
to the deceased			
while using			
social media.			
I learned new			
things about the			
deceased while			
using social			
media to cope			
with the death.			
Social media			
assisted me in			
believing that			
the death was			
real.			
I received			
support from			
others while			
using social			
media to cope			
with the death.			
I created a new			
support network			
while using			
social media to			
cope with the			
death.			
While using			
social media to			
cope with the			
death my			
personal feelings			
were validated.			
Using social			
media allowed			
me to process			

my thoughts and		
feelings about		
the death.		
Using social		
media to cope		
with the death		
allowed me to		
express myself		
through writing		
rather than		
talking about it.		
taiking about it.		
Using social		
media as an		
outlet provided		
comfort to me		
while coping		
with death.		
Using social		
media allowed		
me to		
memorialize the		
deceased.		
While using		
social media, I		
found that		
strangers would		
post positive or		
helpful		
comments about		
the deceased.		

	Frequently	Sometimes	Never
While using			
social media to			
cope with the			
death, I saw			
others' comment			
negatively about			
or toward the			
deceased.			
I did not receive			
support through			
social media that			

r		I
was helpful to		
me as I grieved		
the deceased.		
I did not feel that		
others validated		
my grief as I		
used social		
media to cope		
with the death.		
I felt		
disconnected to		
others who		
posted on social		
-		
media to cope		
with the death.		
T		
I got upset when		
strangers would		
post comments		
about the		
deceased.		
My feelings		
were hurt by the		
comments that		
others made		
about the		
deceased on		
social media		
Posting online		
did not help me		
cope with my		
grief.		
I felt isolated as		
I used social		
media to cope		
with the grief.		
with the gifer.		
I became angry		
at the comments'		
others made		
about the		
deceased while I		
was using social		
media to cope		
with the grief.		
0-1-1	I	1

I felt that I could not be myself online when I was posting on social media to cope with the grief.		
I had increased feelings of sadness, when I used social media to cope with the grief.		

Text Box: Is there anything else you would like to share about your experience on social media

31. In terms of your own personal beliefs, how likely is it that

	Extremely likely	Somewhat likely	Neither likely or unlikely	Somewhat unlikely	Extremely unlikely
There is some form of ongoing consciousness or existence after death					
The deceased are aware of our activity online including messages we may send to them or post on social media					

The deceased			
are aware of			
communication			
through non-			
technology			
mediated			
means (e.g.,			
talking to their			
picture,			
visiting the			
gravesite			

Coping Resources

- 32. Did you use any other resources or strategies to help cope with your grief?
 - a. Attended the funeral/memorial service
 - b. Went to counseling
 - c. Talked with family or friends
 - d. Talked with a pastor, priest or spiritual mentor
 - e. Prayer
 - f. Attended grief support group
 - g. Journaled about the deceased
 - h. Created art
 - i. Looked at art
 - j. Played music
 - k. Listen to music
 - k. Visited the place of burial/cemetery/grave marker
 - 1. Created a keepsake of the deceased remains
 - m. Scattered the cremated remains of the deceased
 - n. Kept a personal item of the deceased
 - o. Created an event or scholarship in honor of the deceased
 - p. Wore a personal item that belonged to the deceased
 - q. Other, please describe

Text Box: If you wish, please describe how you used the above or resources to cope with your grief.

Continuing Bonds and Social Media

The experience of a death can create an empty space for mourners. Depending on the type of relationship that existed with the deceased, it is possible that one develops a yearning for

a continuing bond. This desire or need could be met through reminiscence, shared stories or even conversing with the deceased as if they were present. Continuing bonds can be defined as

even conversi	iig witti	the dec	casca a	is it they were present. Continuing bonds can be defined as
the "presence	of an o	ngoing i	nner re	elationship with the deceased person by a bereaved
individual" (S	troebe d	& Shut,	2005, p	o. 477). Silverman and Nickman (2006) further describe
continuing bo	nds as h	now the	inner re	elationship (bond) to the deceased can be influenced by the
interaction wi	th a con	nmunity	7.	
33. How imp a. Very im b. Somew c. Not imp	nportant hat imp	ortant	ou to ha	eve a continuing bond to the deceased?
Text box:	If you	choose,	please,	describe your answer.
34. Based up maintain a cor				ovided, have you used social media to create and / or deceased?
a. Ye	es	b. N		
(Field, Gal-Oa	z and B	onanno,	2003)	
35. Continuin	ng Bono	d Scale:	CBS se	scale: Complete the following questions using this scale.
1 Not true at	all 2 I	Rarely t	rue	3 Moderatly True 4 Usually True 5 Very true
1. I seek out t	things to	remino 3	d me of 4	the deceased. 5
=	ns that b	elong to	or wer	re closely associated with the deceased as a reminder of
them.	2	3	4	5
3. I like to real	minisce 2	with oth	hers abo	out the deceased. 5
4. I have inne	er conve	rsations	with th	he deceased where I turn to him or her for comfort or advice
1	2	3	4	5
5. Even though my life.	gh no lo	nger ph	ysically	y present, the deceased continues to be a loving presence in
1	2	3	4	5

6. I am awar 1	re of hav	ving take 3	en on m 4	any of the deceased habits, values or interests. 5
7. I am awai	re of the 2	-		nce the deceased had on who I am today. 5
8. I attempt 1		on the o		
9. I have ma	nv fond	memor	ies that	bring joy to me.
1	2	3	4	5
10. When m	_		, I imag	gine the deceased's viewpoint and use this as guide in
1		3	4	5
11. I experie	ence the	decease		ntinuing to live through me. 5
•				cope with the loss of the deceased, please complete the red no, please complete the Core Bereavement Inventory
1 N - 4 4	. 11 0			
1 Not true a	tall 2	Rarely	true	3 Occasionally True 4 Usually True 5 Very true
				3 Occasionally True 4 Usually True 5 Very true e stories, pictures, writings about the deceased.
				e stories, pictures, writings about the deceased.
12. I utilize	d social 2 ocial me	media 3	to shar	e stories, pictures, writings about the deceased.
12. I utilize 1 13. I used s	d social 2 ocial me	media 3	to shar	e stories, pictures, writings about the deceased. 5
12. I utilize 1 13. I used s were talking	d social 2 ocial me 2 to ther 2 ocial me	media de dia to penis dia to pe	to shar 4 post me 4	e stories, pictures, writings about the deceased. 5 essages that were public messages to the deceased (as if I
12. I utilize 1 13. I used s were talking 1 14. I used so were talking	d social 2 ocial me 2 to ther 2 ocial me	media 3 edia to p n). 3 dia to p n).	to shar 4 post me 4 post me	e stories, pictures, writings about the deceased. 5 essages that were public messages to the deceased (as if I 5 essages that were private messages to the deceased (as if I
12. I utilize 1 13. I used so were talking 1 14. I used so were talking	d social 2 ocial me 2 ocial me g to ther g to ther	media : 3 edia to p n). 3 dia to p n). 3	to share 4 post me 4 post me 4	e stories, pictures, writings about the deceased. 5 essages that were public messages to the deceased (as if I 5 essages that were private messages to the deceased (as if I
12. I utilize 1 13. I used so were talking 1 14. I used so were talking 1 15. Posting deceased.	d social 2 ocial me 2 ocial me g to ther g to ther	media o pm). 3 dia to pm). 3 es to the	to share 4 post me 4 oost me 4 e decea	e stories, pictures, writings about the deceased. 5 essages that were public messages to the deceased (as if I 5 essages that were private messages to the deceased (as if I 5 essages that were private messages to the deceased (as if I 5 essages that were private messages to the deceased (as if I 5
12. I utilize 1 13. I used so were talking 1 14. I used so were talking 1 15. Posting deceased.	d social 2 ocial me g to ther 2 ocial me g to ther 2 messag	media a 3 edia to p n). 3 dia to p n). 3 es to the	to share 4 post me 4 cost me 4 e decea	e stories, pictures, writings about the deceased. 5 essages that were public messages to the deceased (as if I 5 essages that were private messages to the deceased (as if I 5 essages that were private messages to the deceased (as if I 5 essages that were private messages to the deceased (as if I 5

	1	2	3	4	5			
18. I used social media to ask the deceased to watch over me.								
	1	2	3	4	5			
19. I felt connected to the deceased through reading the posts, messages and comments online.								
-	1	2	3	4	5			
20. I felt connected to the deceased through leaving a voice mail on their phone.								
-	1	2	3	4	5			
21. I felt connected to the deceased by texting their phone number.								
-	1	2	3	4	5			
22. I felt connected to the deceased by listening to their voice mail messages.								
		2 inected	_		5 ed by watching videos of them.			
-	1	2	3	4	5			
24. I felt connected to the deceased when I read their blog.								
-	1	2	3	4	5			
36. CBI Core Bereavement Inventory: Please answer the survey using the scale provided. Please substitute the x for the individual who has died.								
0 Neve	er	1 A li	ttle bit o	of the tir	ime 2 Quite a bit of the time 3 A lot of the time.			
1.	Do yo	ou exper	rience in 2	nages of	of the events surrounding x's death?			
2.	Do the	oughts o	of x con 2	ne into y	your mind whether you wish it to or not?			
3.	Do the	oughts o	of x mal 2	xe you f	feel distressed			

17. I asked the deceased for advice through social media.

4.	Do you	think a	about x	3
5.	Do ima	nges of	x make 2	you feel distressed? 3
6.	Do you	ı find y 1	ourself 2	pre-occupied with images or memories of x?
7.	Do you	i find y	ourself 2	thinking of a reunion with x?
8.	Do you	i find y	ourself 2	missing x? 3
9.	Are yo	u remir 1	nded by 2	familiarly of x's objects (photos, possessions, rooms, etc.)?
10.	Do you	i find y	ourself 2	pining for/yearning for x?
	0 Do you present	1 ı feel di	2	looking for x in familiar places? 3 pain if for any reason you are confronted with the reality that x is not ock?
13.	for x?	ninders	of x suc	ch as photos, situations, music, places etc., cause you to feel longing
14.	Do rem lonelin 0		of x suc	ch as photos, situations, music, places, etc., cause you to feel 3
15.	Do rem	ninders 1	of x suc	ch as photos, situations, music, places, etc., cause you to cry a lot?
16.	Do rem sadness 0		of x suc	ch as phots, situations, music, places, etc., cause you to feel 3

17. Do reminders of x such as photos situations music, places, etc., cause you to feel loss of enjoyment?

0 1 2 3

Burnett, P., Middleton, W., Raphael, B., & Martinek, N., (1997) Measuring Core Bereavement Phenomena, Psychological Medicine, 27 (49-57).

References

- Anderson, M., & Jiang, J. (2018). Teens, Social Media and Technology 2018. *Pew Research Center, Internet and Technology*, 1-10. Retrieved from http:

 www.pewinternet.org/2018/05/31/teens-social-media-technology-2108.
- Arnett, J. A. (2001). Conceptions of Transition to Adulthood: Perspective from Adolescence through Midlife. *Journal of Adult Development*, 8 (2), 133-143. https://doi-org.proxy.library.upenn.edu/10.1023/A:102645013225
- Arnett, J. A. (2015). Emerging Adulthood: The Winding Road from the Late Teens Though the Twenties 2nd ed., Oxford University Press. Retrieved from https://bookshelf.vitalsource.com/#/books/9780190209582/cfi/6/8!/4/2/4@0:0
- Balk, D.E. (1996). Attachment and the Reactions of Bereaved College Students: ALongitudinal Study., In Klass, D., Silverman, P., & Nickman, (Eds). *Continuing Bonds:*New Understanding of Grief. (pp. 311-325, Chapter 18, 357 Pages). Routledge.
- Balk, D. E. (1997) Death, bereavement and college students: A descriptive analysis. *Mortality*, 2 (3), 207-220. https://doi-org.proxy.library.upenn.edu/10.1080/713685866
- Balk, D.E. (2011). *Helping the bereaved College Student*, New York: Springer Publishing.

 [Proquest E Book Central] Retrieved from: https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/francis/
- Balk, D. E., Walker, A. C., & Baker, A. (2010). Prevalence and severity of college student bereavement examined in a randomly selected sample. *Death Studies*, *34*(5), 459-468. https://doi.org/10.1080/07481180903251810
- Balk, D.E., & Varga, M.A. (2018). Continuing Bonds and Social Media in the Lives of Bereaved College Students. In Klass, D., & Steffen, E.M., (Eds.) Continuing Bonds in Bereavement

- New Directions for Research and Practice, (pp. 303-316, Chapter 22, 352 Pages), Routledge Publishing.
- Bassett, D.J. (2018) Ctrl+Alt+Delete: The changing landscape of the uncanny valley and the fear of second loss. *Current Psychology*, https://doiorg.proxy.library.upenn.edu/10.1007/s/12144-018-006-5.
- Bassett, D. (2015). Who Wants to Live Forever? Living, Dying and Grieving in Our Digital Society, *Social Sciences*, *4*, 1127–1139. https://doi.org/10.3390/socsci4041127
- Bowlby, J. (1950). Research and the Origins of Delinquent Behaviour. *The British Medical Journal*, (4653), 570-573. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.1.4653.570
- Bowlby, J. (1969). *Attachment and Loss Volume I*. Attachment Second Edition. Harper Collins Publishing.
- Bowlby, J. (1982). Attachment and Loss: Retrospect and Prospect. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 52(4), 664-678. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1939-0025.1982.tb01456.x
- Bowlby, J. & Parkes, C.M. (1970). *Separation and loss within the family*. In E.J. Anthony & C. Koupernik (eds). The child in his family: International Yearbook of Child Psychiatry and Allied Professions (Vol.1, pp. 197-216). Wiley and Sons.
- Bretherton, I. (1992). The Origins of Attachment Theory: John Bowlby and Mary Ainsworth.

 *Developmental Psychology. 28(5):759-775. htts://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.28.5.759,

 https://proxy.library.upenn.edu/docview/1298037267?accountid=1470
- Burnett, P., Middleton, W., Raphael, B., & Martinek, N. (1997). Measuring Core Bereavement Phenomena, *Psychological Medicine*, 27, 49-57. https://doi-org.proxy.library.upenn.edu/10.1017/s003329179600415
- Bucx, F., & Van Wel, F., (2008). Parental Bond and Life Course Transitions from Adolescence

- to Young Adulthood. *Adolescence*, 43,(169) 71-78. Retrieved from https://link-gale.com.proxy.library.upenn.edu/apps/doc/A177361745/ITOF?u=upenn_main&s id=ITOF&xid=3ad1ee8d
- Carroll, B., & Landry, K. (2010). Logging on and Letting Out: Using online Social Networks to Grieve and Mourn. *Bulletin of Science Technology & Society.* 30(5), 341-349. https://doi.org/101.177/0270467610380006
- Castle, J & Phillips, W. (2003). Grief Rituals: Aspects that Facilitate Adjustment to Bereavement. *Journal of Loss and Trauma*, 8(1) 41-71. https://doi.org.proxy.library.upenn.edu/10.1080/15325020305876
- Conely, C., Kirsh, A., Dickson, D., & Bryant, F. (2014). Negotiating the Transition to College: Developmental Trajectories and Gender Differences in Psychological Functioning, Cognitive-Affective Strategies, and Social Well-Being. *Emerging Adulthood*, *2*(*3*), 195-210. https://doi.org/10.1177/2167696814521808
- Cox, B., Reason, R., Nix, S., & Gilman, M. (2016). Life Happens (Outside of College): Non-College Life Events and Students' Likelihood of Graduation. *Research in Higher Education*, 57(7), 823-844. https://doiorg.proxy.library.upenn.edu/10.1007/s11162-016-9409-z
- Cox, G., Dean, J., & Kowalski, R. (2015). Hidden Trauma, Quiet Drama: The Prominence and Consequence of Complicated Grief Among College Students.

 Journal of College Student Development, 56 (3), 280-285.

 https://doi.org/10.1353/csd.2015.0030
- Cupit, I. (2012). Research in Thanatechonolgy. In Sofka. C.J., Cupit I.N., & Gilbert, K.R., (Eds.), *Dying, death, and grief in an online universe: For counselors and*

- educators; dying, death, and grief in an online universe: For counselors and educators (pp. 198-214, Chapter 14, 271 Pages). Springer Publishing Co.
- Cupit, I., Sevaty-Seib, S., Parikh, T., Walker, A., & Martin, R. (2016). College and the grieving student: A mixed-methods analysis. *Death Studies*, 40(8), 494-506. https://doi.org/10.1080/07481187.2016.1181687
- DeGroot, J. (2014). For Whom the Bell Tolls: Emotional Rubbernecking in Facebook Memorial Groups, *Death Studies*, 38 (2), 79-84. https://doi.org/
- Erikson, E. (1980). *Identity and the Life Cycle*. WW. Norton and Company.
- Falconer, K., Sachsenweger, M., Gibson, K., & Norman, H. (2011). Grieving in the Internet Age, *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, 40 (3), 79-88. https://search-proquest-com.francis.idm.oclc.org/docview/1025744880/BF0B65C3FFB0495EPQ/1?accountid=4 216.
- Field, N., & Filanosky, C. (2010). Continuing Bonds, Risk Factors for Complicated Grief and Adjustment to Bereavement, *Death Studies*, *34*, 1-29. https://doi-org.proxy.library.upenn.edu/10.1080/07481180903372269
- Field, N. P., Gal-OZ & Bonanno, G. A. (2003). Continuing Bonds and Adjustment at 5 years after the death of a spouse. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 71, 110-117. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006x71.110.
- Fretas, D. (2017). The Happiness Effect, How Social Media is Driving a Generation to Appear Perfect at Any Cost. Oxford.
- Freud, S. (1914). On the history of the Psycho-Analytic Movement Papers on the Metapsychology and Other works. (J. Strachey, trans.). Retrieved from

- http://www.english.upenn.edu/~cavitch/pdf-library/Freud_MourningAndMelancholia.pdf
- Gilles, J., & Neimeyer, R. (2006). Loss, Grief, and the Search for Significance: Toward a Model of Meaning and Reconstruction in Bereavement, *Journal of Constructivist Psychology*, *19*(1), 31-65. https://doi.org/10.1080/1072053050031182
- Goodman, J., Scholossberg, N., & Anderson, M. (2006). *Counseling Adults in Transition: Linking Theory with Practice*. Springer Publishing. [Proquest Ebook Central] Retrieved from proquest-com.proxy.library.upenn.edu
- Goodyear-Brown, P. & Gott, E. (2019). Tech, Trauma, and the Power of Titration. In Stone, J.(2019). *Integrating Technology into Modern Therapies A Clinician's Guide to Development and Interventions*. Routledge Publishing.
- Graves, K.E. (2009). Social networking sites and grief: An exploratory investigation of potential Benefits (Publication No. 305061131)[Doctoral Dissertation, Indiana University of Pennsylvania]. ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.
- Hieftje, K. (2012). The role of social networking sites in memorialization of college students. In
 C. J. Sofka, I. N. Cupit & K. R. Gilbert (Eds.), *Dying, death, and grief in an online universe: For counselors and educators; dying, death, and grief in an online universe: For counselors and educators* (pp. 31-46, Chapter xviii, 271 Pages), Springer Publishing Co.
- Ho, S., & Chan, I.S.F. (2018). Externalized and Internalized Continued Bonds in Understanding Grief. In Klass, D., & Steffen, E.M., (Eds.), *Continuing Bonds in Bereavement New Directions for Research and Practice*, (pp. 129-138, Chapter 9, 352 Pages), Routledge Publishing.
- Holland, J., Currier, J., & Neimeyer, R. A. (2006). Meaning reconstruction in the first two

- years of bereavement: The role of sense-making and benefit finding., *Omega*, *53*(3), 175-191. https://doi.org/10.2190/FKM2-YJTY-F9VV-9XWY
- Holland, J.M., Nam, I., & Neimeyer, R. (2013). A Psychometric Evaluation of the Core Bereavement Scale, *Assessment*, 20(1), 119-122. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191112446656
- James, L. (2014). Summer. *Continuing bonds in a virtual world: The use of Facebook in adolescent grief. UMI Number 3635630.* Dissertation in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy, Colorado State University.
- Kasket, E. (2012). Continuing bonds in the age of social networking: Facebook as a modern-day medium, *Bereavement Care*, *31* (2), 62-69. https://doi.org/10.1080/02682621.2012.710493
- Klass, D. (2006). Continuing Conversations about Continuing Bonds. *Death Studies*, *30* (9), 843-858. https://doi.org/10.1080/07481180600886959
- Klass, D. & Steffan E. (Eds). (2018). Continuing Bonds in Bereavement New Directions for Research and Practice. Routledge.
- Klass, D., Silverman, P., & Nickman, S. (Eds). (1996). *Continuing Bonds New Understandings of Grief.* Routledge.
- Kosminksy, P. (2018). Working with Continuing bonds from an Attachment Theoretical Perspective, In Klass D. & Steffan, E. (Eds) *Continuing Bonds in Bereavement New Directions for Research and Practice*. Routledge.
- Kubler-Ross. E. (1970). On death and dying. Collier Books Macmillan Publishing Co.
- LaGrand, L. (1985). College Student Loss and Response. *New Directions for Students Services*, 31, 15-28. https://doi.org/10.1002/ss.37119853104

- Lenhart, A., Purcell, K., Smith, A., & Zichur, K. (2010). Social Media & Mobile Internet Use among Teens and Young Adults. *Pew Research Center, Pew Internet & American Life Project*, 1-19. Retrieved from pewinternet.org
- Liew, C. H. & Servaty -Seib, H. (2018). College Students grief, grief differences, family communication and family satisfaction. *Death Studies*, *42*(4), 228-238. https://doi.org.10.1080/07481187.2017.1334014
- McBride, P. (2019). Unbroken Continuity: Emerging Adults Forge Continuing Bonds on Social

 Media Sties Created by Loved Ones who are Now Deceased (Publication no: 27670950)

 [Doctoral Dissertation, Fielding University] ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.
- Miller, K. & Sevaty-Seib, H. (2016). First Year Students' Loss Experiences and Institutional Belongingness in the Transition to College. *Journal of The First Year Experience & Students in Transition*, 28(2) 53-72.
- Moore, J., Magee, S., Gamrelidze, E., & Kowalewski, J. (2019). Social Media Mourning: Using Grounded Theory to Explore How People Grieve on Social Networking Sites. *OMEGA Journal of Death and Dying* 79(3) 231-259. https://doi.org/10.1177/0030222817709691
- Neimeyer, R. A. (2001). The Language of Loss: Grief Therapy as a Process of Meaning Reconstruction. In Neimeyer, R. A. (Ed)., *Reconstruction and the Experience of Loss*, (pp. 261-292). American Psychological Association, https://doi.org/10.1037/103797-014
- Neimeyer, R. A., Baldwin, S., & Gillies, J. (2006) Continuing Bonds and Reconstructing Meaning: Mitigating Complications in Bereavement, *Death Studies 30*(8), 715-738, https://doi.org/10.1080/07481180600848322

- Neimeyer R.A. & Currier J. M. (2009). Grief Therapy: Evidence of Efficacy and Emerging Directions. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *18*(6) 352-356. www.jstor.org/stable/20696066
- Neimeyer, R.A., Klass, D., & Dennis, M. R. (2014). A Social Constructionist Account of Grief:

 Loss and the Narration of Meaning. *Death Studies*, *38*, 465-498. https://doi.org/

 10.1080/07481187.2014.913454
- Neimeyer, R. A., Laurie, A., Mehta, T., Hardison, H., & Currier, J. M. (2008). Lessons of loss: Meaning-making in bereaved college students. *New Directions for Student Services*, (121), 27-39. https://doi-org.proxy.library.upenn.edu/10.1002/ss.264
- Neimeyer, R. A., Prigerson, H.G., & Davies, B. (2002). Mourning and Meaning. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 46 (2), 235-251. https://doi.org/10.1177/00276402236676
- Pennington, N. (2013). You don't de-friend the dead: An analysis of grief communication by college students through Facebook profiles. *Death Studies*, *37*(7), 617-635. https://doi.org/10.1080/07481187.2012.673536
- Robins C., & Pond. R. (2019). Do online support groups for grief benefit the bereaved?

 Systematic review of quantitative and qualitative literature. *Computer Science*, 100, 48-59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2019.06.011
- Root, B., & Exline, J. (2014). The Role of Continuing Bonds in Coping with Grief: Overview and Future Directions. *Death Studies*, *38*(1), 1-8. https://doi.org/
- Rosesetto, K., Lannutti, P., Strauman, E. (2015). Death on Facebook Examining the roles of social media communication for the bereaved. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 32(7), 974-994. https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407514555272

- Schlossberg, N. (1981). A Model for Analyzing Human Adaption to Transition. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 9(2), 2-18. https://doi.org/10.177/001100008100900202
- Seemiller, C., & Grace, M. (2016). *Generation Z Goes to College*, Josey/Bass: New York, New York.
- Shear, M.K., & Bloom, C. (2017). Complicated Grief Treatment: An Evidenced-Based Approach to Grief Therapy. *Journal of Rational-Emotive & Cognitive-Behavior Therapy*, *35* (1), 6-25. https://doi-org.proxy.library.upenn.edu/10.1007/s10942-016-0242-2
- Silverman, P.,&, Nickman, S. (2006). Children's Construction of their Dead Parents. In Klass, D., Silverman, P., & Nickman, (Eds). *Continuing Bonds: New Understanding of Grief* (pp. 73-86, Chapter 5, 357 Pages). Routledge.
- Silverman, P., Nickman, S., & Worden, J. W. (1992). Detachment Revisited: The Childs

 Reconstruction of a Dead Parent., *American Journal of Orthopsyciatry*, 62 (4), 494-503.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/h0079366
- Sofka, C. (2018, November). Adolescents' use of technology and social media to cope with life threatening illness and loss: What parents and supportive adults should know. CHiPPS E-Journal (Children's Project on Palliative/Hospice Services), 53, pp.18-27.

 Available at https://www.researchgate.net/publication/31543253
- Sofka, C. (2017). Role of digital and social media in supporting bereaved students. In J. Brown & S. Jimerson (Eds.), *Supporting Bereaved Students at School* (pp. 96-111). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Sofka, C. J., Cupit I. N., & Gilbert, K. P. (Eds.). (2012). Dying, death, and grief in an online universe: For counselors and educators; dying, death, and grief in an online universe: For counselors and educators (271 Pages). Springer Publishing.

- Sofka, C. (2013). "518" Social Media and Grief Survey. Unpublished raw data.
- Sofka, C. J. (1997). Social supports "internetworks," caskets for sale and more: Thanatology and the information superhighway. *Death Studies*, *21*(6), 553-574. https://doi.org/1080/074811897201778
- Stein, C., Petrowoski, C., Gonzales, S., Mattei, G., Majcher, J., Froemming, M., Greenburg, S., Dulek, E., & Benoit, M. (2018). A Matter of Life and Death: Understanding Continuing Bonds and Post-traumatic Growth When Young Adults Experience the Loss of a Close Friend. *Journal of Family Studies*, 27, 725-738. https://doi-org.proxy.library.upenn.edu/10.1007/s10826-017-0943-x
- Stroebe, M. & Schut, H. (2005). To Continue or Relinquish Bonds: A Review of Consequences for the Bereaved. *Death Studies*, 29 (6), 477-494. https://doi.org/
- Subrahmanyam, K., Reich, S., Waechter, N., & Espinoza, G. (2008). Online and offline social networks: Use of social networking sites by emerging adults. *Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 29, 420-433. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev2008.07.003
- Thimm, C., & Nehls, P. (2017). Sharing grief and mourning on Instagram: Digital patterns of family memories. *Communications*, 42 (3), 327-349. https://doi-org./10.1515/commun-2017-0035
- Turner, A., (2015). Generation Z: Technology and Social Interest. *The Journal of Individual Psychology*, 71(2), 103-113. https://doi.org/10.1353/jip2015.0021
- Varga, MA.,& Paulus, T. (2014). Grieving Online: Newcomers Construction of Grief in an Online Support Group. *Death Studies*, *38*(7), 443-449. https://doi.org/

- Varga, MA., & Varga, M. (2019). Grieving College Students use of Social Media, *Illness, Crisis*Loss 0 (0) 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1177/1054137319827426
- Walsh, F., & McGoldrick, M. (2013). Bereavement: A Family Life cycle perspective. *Family Science*, 4(1) 20-27. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/19424620.3013.8198228.
- Wagner, M., & Rhee, Y. (2013). Stress, sleep, grief: are college students receiving information that interests them? *College Student Journal*, 47(1), 24. Retrieved from https://link-gale.com.proxy.library.upenn.edu/apps/doc/A34588273/ITOF?u=penn_main&sid=ITOF&xid=c7669c8b.
- Williams, A., & Merten, M. (2009). Adolescents' Online Social Networking Following the Death of a Peer. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 24 (1), p. 67-90. https://doi.org/
- Willis, E. & Ferrucci, P. (2017). Mourning and Grief on Facebook: An Examination of Motivations for Interacting with the Deceased. *Omega, Journal of Death and Dying*, 76(2) 122-140. https://doi.org/10.1177/0030222816688284
- Worden, W.J. (2009). *Grief Counseling and Grief Therapy, Therapy A Handbook for the Mental Health Practioner*, 4th ed. Springer Publishing.
- Worden, W.J. (2018). *Grief Counseling and Grief Therapy A Handbook for the Mental**Health Practitioner, 5th ed. Springer Publishing. [VitalSource Bookshelf] Retrieved from https://bookshelf.vitalsource.com/#/books/9780826134752/.
- Zaleski, E., Levy-Thors, & Schiaffino, K. (1998). Coping Mechanisms, Stress, Social Support, and Health Problems in College Students. *Applied Developmental Science*, 2 (3), 127-137. https://doi-org.proxy.library.upenn.edu/10.1207/s1532480xads0203_2